

# Rapid Gender Analysis during COVID-19 Pandemic

### Mekong Sub-Regional Report

Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar, Thailand and Viet Nam

September 2020







### **Authors**

CARE Australia, Global Programs and Partnerships: Athena Nguyen, Jordan Hoffmann, Laura Baines, Ratha Ra, Rebecca Elias.

Christina Haneef, Emergency Response Specialist - Gender in Emergencies, Rapid Response Team, CARE Canada.

### Acknowledgements

Many thanks to staff from CARE International in Cambodia, CARE International in Lao PDR, CARE International in Myanmar, CARE International in Viet Nam and the Raks Thai Foundation for sourcing local information and their valuable reviewing contributions. Thank you to CARE's partners and civil society organisations who collaborated on this project's data collection and analysis.

With thanks to USAID and UNICEF for the financial contribution for the development of this report, as well as for technical contributions and reviews by Gerda Binder (UNICEF EAPRO) and Karen Humphries-Waa (UNICEF EAPRO).

With thanks to UN Women for their valuable technical contributions and collaboration in data collection. In particular to, Thuyanh Tran (UN Women Vietnam), Socheath Heng (UN Women Cambodia), Saranya Chittangwong (UN Women Thailand), Vipunjit Ketunuti (UN Women Thailand), Devikara Devakula (Prim) (UN Women ROAP), Maria Holtsberg (UN Women ROAP).

With thanks to Valentina Mirza (CARE International, Asia Pacific Regional Office) and Steve De Klerk (CARE Canada, Asia Pacific Regional Office) for their ongoing support and co-ordination. Many thanks to Charlie Damon (CARE Australia, Global Programs and Partnerships), Laura Tashjian (CARE USA, Humanitarian Practice and Policy) and Lesley Abraham (CARE USA, Made by Women Strategy Coordinator) for their ongoing technical advice and valuable reviewing contributions. The views in this Rapid Gender Analysis are those of the authors alone and do not necessarily represent those of CARE or its programmes, Government or any other partners.

Cover page photo: Women working in a garment factory in Cambodia.

Image: Josh Estey, May 2017

### Contents

Abbreviations and acronyms	4
Executive summary	5
Introduction	8
Demographic profile	10
Findings and analysis	14
Gender roles and responsibilities	14
Decision-making, participation and leadership	19
Access to services and resources	22
Safety and protection	30
Capacities and coping mechanisms	34
Conclusions and recommendations	34
Endnotes	40

### Abbreviations and acronyms

ASEAN	The Association of Southeast Asian Nations
COVID-19	Novel Coronavirus 2019
CSAGA	Center for Studies and Applied Sciences in Gender, Family, Women and Adolescents
CSO	civil society organisation
DPO	disabled person's organisations
FHH	female-headed household
GBV	gender-based violence
IDP	internally displaced person
IPV	intimate partner violence
KII	key informant interview
LGBQTI+	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Queer, Trans and Intersex plus people
LFTU	Lao Federation of Trade Unions
LWU	Lao Women's Union
МНМ	menstrual hygiene management
МОН	Ministry of Health
MP	Member of Parliament
NCD	non-communicable disease
NGO	non-governmental organisation
PPE	personal protective equipment
PSHEA	prevention of sexual harassment, exploitation and abuse
SOGIESC	People of diverse Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Expression, and Sexual Characteristics
SRHR	sexual and reproductive health and rights
SRMNCH	sexual, reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health
SWIM	Sex Workers In Myanmar
VMU	Village Mediation Unit
VSLA	Village Savings and Loans Associations
WASH	water, sanitation and hygiene
who	World Health Organisation
WPS	Women, Peace and Security

### **Executive summary**

The Novel Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) was first detected in Hubei province, China, in late December 2019, and has since spread to 213 countries and territories around the world.<sup>1</sup> As of 31 August 2020, there were 25,405,845 confirmed cases globally, and 849,389 deaths.<sup>2</sup> There have been 5,612 cases in the Mekong region – Cambodia (274), Lao PDR (22), Myanmar (882), Thailand (3,390) and Viet Nam (1,044).<sup>3</sup>

This unprecedented crisis unfolds against many existing challenges including persistent gender inequalities, existing inequalities in access to health, weak health infrastructures, and a high risk of secondary disasters in the region. COVID-19 presents a range of contextual challenges, that will have a greater impact on the most vulnerable, such as for migrant workers, indigenous and ethnic minorities, refugees and internally displaced peoples, migrants, urban slum-dwellers, and people working in the informal sector.<sup>4</sup> As with all crises, women and children are disproportionately impacted.

The purpose of this Rapid Gender Analysis during COVID-19 is to analyse and better understand the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on women, men, girls, boys and specific at-risk groups in the Mekong region.

Country-level Rapid Gender Analysis was conducted in Cambodia, Lao PDR, Viet Nam, Myanmar and Thailand using primary and secondary data collection that took place between 15 April and 28 May 2020. The report outlines the key findings; commonalities and differences across the countries to provide a regional perspective on the impacts of COVID-19 on women, men, boys, girls and at-risk groups in the Mekong. The report placed a specific focus on: migrant workers, garment factory workers, ethnic minorities, people with disabilities and people working in the informal sector, such as female sex workers.

### **Key findings**

#### Unpaid care responsibility

Across the region, traditional gender roles have continued and in many cases been reinforced, with the
increasing burden of household and care responsibilities falling on women. In some cases, due to loss
of livelihoods, men have taken on household duties – however this is seen (by men and women) more
as 'supporting' or 'helping' women with their role, rather than a re-shaping of gender roles and
responsibilities.

### **Financial impact**

- Impacts on Village Savings and Loans Associations (VSLA) were noted across the region due to social distancing restricting groups from meeting, and the economic downturn means members (largely women) are struggling to repay loans or purchase shares.
- Lower salaries and job losses have led to a reduction in remittances being sent home from migrant workers. Women migrant workers were noted to be particularly financially vulnerable as they generally send a significant proportion of their wages home. Families of returnee migrants are facing a double strain, with a loss of remittances and increased demand on existing resources.

#### **Decision-making power**

- Women's decision-making power is linked to household-related decisions (e.g. food consumption, hygiene practices for COVID-19 prevention, household saving). Larger decisions such as income use, business development, land or asset purchase were noted as being made increasingly jointly (Thailand, Vietnam and Lao PDR) or by men (Myanmar). In Cambodia, decision-making power in the household was strongly linked to household income contribution, highlighting the potential impacts that loss of income may have on women in the family.
- At the level of national governments, as well as leadership in trade unions women are significantly
  under-represented in the Mekong and this has been mirrored in COVID-19 taskforces and committees
  across the region. Sex workers and other marginalised groups face further exclusion from public
  decision-making spaces.

#### Protections

- Protection concerns, such as human trafficking, child marriage and gender-based violence (GBV) are increasing. Lack of awareness of existing services and barriers to access due to restricted mobility, limited privacy, and fears of the pandemic are a concern. Groups highlighted to be particularly at risk include Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Queer, Trans and Intersex plus individuals (LGBQTI+), women with disabilities and migrant women.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated prejudices or tensions. Discrimination against returnee migrant workers (e.g. in Lao PDR and Myanmar), and ethnic and religious minorities (e.g. in Cambodia) were noted.
- Funding to Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) and grassroots organisations are being impacted, leading to critical services being suspended, particularly for at-risk groups.

#### Health and hygiene

- Access to health and SRH services is being impacted by fear, safety of women and girls traveling to services, discrimination (e.g. of ethnic minorities), language, freedom of movement, and limited services in rural areas. This was seen to be greater for undocumented migrant workers (particularly pregnant women migrant workers).
- Women and girls are heavily concentrated in industries that expose them to COVID-19 (including in the health sector, informal work, the tourism industry, the garment and textiles industry) and have lacked the employee and social protection needed during the pandemic

#### Food security and WASH

- Loss of income combined with an increased need to purchase hygiene-related products as a
  prevention measure is leading to food insecurity, with coping mechanisms such as using savings and
  selling assets being activated. This has additional pressure on women who are responsible for
  household food security.
- Lack of access to basic water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) facilities in the region is likely to be compounded by the Mekong drought, which has severely impacted Viet Nam and Thailand. High-costs of water, physical and safety access issues are likely to affect urban slum-dwellers, particularly women, children, persons with disabilities and the elderly.
- Women and girls experience a disproportionate burden from inadequate water and sanitation facilities, due to both physiological differences such as menstruation, and gender norms that require them to clean, cook and collect the household water (placing them at greater risk of GBV<sup>1</sup>). Additionally, many WASH facilities also do not cater to the accessibility and needs of persons with disabilities.

#### Information and education

- Barriers to accessing COVID-19-related information include: literacy, language, access to technology, digital devices and data. These barriers were seen to be greater for the elderly, the poor, people with disabilities, ethnic minorities, remote communities, and for women, as a result of barriers to their participation in the public sphere.
- While boys and girls across the region remain in remote learning or are gradually returning to school, there are concerns over girl's access to online learning platforms as well as continuing education. In particular, girls from rural, poor and minority ethnic communities are impacted due to social and cultural barriers, gendered roles within the home, cultural practices, and limitations around digital devices, and mobility due to safety concerns.

#### **Psychosocial stress**

- High levels of financial stress and expectations (especially on men) to provide for the family, fear of
  contracting the virus, impacts on family (especially children), school closures, and discrimination are all
  contributing to increases in mental health concerns across the region.
- Women are suffering from: increased stress; anxiety and pressure to manage the household and feed the family with limited resources; difficulties balancing domestic work; increased levels of caregiving and home learning; reduced personal safety and increasing financial difficulties, especially in female-headed households.

### Recommendations

Below is a summary of key recommendations. Detailed action steps can be found in the main report.

### For responding agencies:

**Recommendation 1**: Collect and ensure the availability of sex and age disaggregated data, as well as data and information based on disabilities and at-risk groups. This should include rates of morbidity and mortality, differential economic impacts, differential care burdens, access to health services (including sexual and reproductive health services), education and technology.

**Recommendation 2:** Ensure information, messaging and community outreach on COVID-19 is inclusive and accessible to all, and does not reinforce harmful gender stereotypes.

**Recommendation 3**: Provide immediate emergency relief support to those most impacted by COVID-19 and those who are experiencing barriers to accessing social protection mechanisms. This includes a focus on those working in the informal economy (where women are the majority), informal migrant workers and sex workers (also where women are the majority), people with disabilities, rural communities, urban slum-dwellers and female-headed households.

**Recommendation 4:** Develop mitigation strategies that specifically target the economic impact of the outbreak on women and build women's financial resilience. A particular focus should be on those in sectors hit hardest by the pandemic, which include tourism; sex work; the clothing sector, which includes those working in garment factories, and those working in other informal sectors.

**Recommendation 5:** Ensure women with diverse backgrounds and from different socio-economic strata are given opportunities to meaningfully engage in structures and processes established for COVID-19.

**Recommendation 6:** Prioritise and strengthen services for the prevention of, and response to, GBV and sexual and reproductive health services in communities affected by COVID-19, with an emphasis on mitigating barriers identified for specific groups in this report.

Recommendation 7: Prioritise mental health and psychosocial support services in communities.

**Recommendation 8:** Ensure school closures, where they exist, do not further disadvantage girls or atrisk populations such as children with disabilities, ethnic minorities and those from rural communities.

**Recommendation 9:** Prioritise services for prevention and response to human trafficking in communities affected by COVID-19, and provide capacity building to ensure services are gender responsive and inclusive (with a focus on women and at-risk groups identified in this analysis).

### For regional and national governments:

**Recommendation 10:** Ensure all response strategies and measures to the COVID-19 pandemic respect human rights (including the rights of women and at-risk groups identified in this analysis).

**Recommendation 11:** Ensure that border control procedures and quarantine facilities are established and maintained according to gender-responsive best practices.

**Recommendation 12:** Ensure gender responsive COVID-19 testing, contact tracing and community outreach at Mekong borders and in at-risk communities.

**Recommendation 13:** Countries in the Mekong should ensure they are well coordinated and work together to ensure gender-responsive services are in place.

### Background information - COVID-19 and the Mekong

First detected in China's Hubei Province in late December 2019, the Novel Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) has since spread to 213 countries and territories around the world.<sup>5</sup> On 11 March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic and that numbers are expected to continue rising exponentially every month. As of 31 August 2020, there were 25,405,845 confirmed cases globally, and 849,389 deaths.<sup>6</sup> There have been 5,612 cases in the Mekong region – Cambodia (274), Lao PDR (22), Myanmar (882), Thailand (3,390) and Viet Nam (1,044).<sup>7</sup>

When we adjust confirmed deaths across countries in the region relative to the size of the population – the Mekong countries range between 0-1 deaths per 1 million people. This is compared to countries such as the United Kingdom, the United States of America, Peru and Spain, which are recording close to or over 600 deaths per million people.<sup>8</sup> While the Mekong is showing a relatively low death rate, it is important to note challenges in collecting data, particularly in rural and conflict-affected regions. Further and more importantly, while the death rate is relatively low – this report will highlight the importance of the *indirect* effects of the virus, based on gender and at-risk groups, when we consider the overall impact of the pandemic.

This unprecedented crisis unfolds against many existing challenges: The COVID-19 pandemic in the region is emerging amid persistent gender inequalities owing to structural inequalities and discriminatory gender norms,<sup>9</sup> as well as existing inequalities in access to health and weak health infrastructure. The five countries of the Mekong region – Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, Thailand, and Viet Nam – are also highly prone to hydrometeorological hazards, including floods, tropical storms, and droughts. In early 2020, as the pandemic unfolded, Thailand suffered its worst drought in forty years, while multiple provinces in Viet Nam declared a state of emergency over drought and saltwater intrusion.

For the Mekong region<sup>10</sup>, COVID-19 presents a range of contextual challenges, that will have a greater impact on the most vulnerable, exacerbating existing inequalities, including for migrant workers, high numbers of employees in the garment industry and large numbers of vulnerable groups including indigenous and ethnic minorities, refugees and internally displaced people, migrants, urban slum-dwellers, and people working in the informal sector.<sup>11</sup> As with all crises, women and children are disproportionately affected, particularly in the areas of economic empowerment, decision-making, participation, access to resources and services (such as health and education), and protection of human rights. Further disasters, in particular as the region enters monsoon season, will compound the already devastating impacts of the pandemic on women and girls.

### Objectives and methodology

Rapid Gender Analysis (RGA) is a process that provides information about the different needs, capacities and coping strategies of women, men, boys and girls in a crisis. Rapid Gender Analysis is built up progressively: using a range of primary and secondary information to understand gender roles and relations and how they may change during a crisis. It provides practical programming and operational recommendations to meet the different needs of women, men, boys and girls and to ensure we 'do no harm'. Rapid Gender Analysis uses the tools and approaches of Gender Analysis Frameworks and adapts them to the tight time-frames, rapidly changing contexts, and insecure environments that often characterise humanitarian interventions.

This Rapid Gender Analysis provides information about the potential impacts of COVID-19 in the Mekong region on women, men, boys and girls, persons of diverse gender identities, and at-risk or vulnerable groups. Rapid Gender Analysis has been conducted in countries across the Mekong region including Cambodia, Lao PDR, Thailand (with a focus on migrant workers), Myanmar (both nationally and a specific Rapid Gender Analysis focused on Rakhine State), and Viet Nam. These country-level Rapid Gender Analyses were conducted using primary and secondary data collection. A secondary data review was conducted for the Mekong Region, prior to the individual country-level Rapid Gender Analysis to support data collection and initial analysis. Primary data collection for the country-level Rapid Gender Analysis, took place between 15 April and 28 May 2020.<sup>12</sup>

### **Collaboration with local CSOs and partners**

Lao PDR Rapid Gender Analysis process (data collection and analysis) was conducted together with civil society organisation (CSO) partners. CARE Myanmar worked with local partners to conduct data collection.

The table below summarises the primary data that was collected.

Country	Type of data collection
Cambodia	Remote Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) with a total of 28 people (14 women, 13 men and one un-identified sex) including: Community members (four returned migrant workers from Thailand, six factory workers, three workers who had lost their jobs and six people with disabilities) and Non-community members (two factory Human Resource managers, two health care providers, one health manager, one National Committee for Counter Trafficking Deputy General Secretary, two commune chiefs and one deputy district governor).
Lao PDR	Remote 58 Key Informant Interviews with Ministry of Health (MOH) at provincial and district levels, Lao PDR Women's Union (LWU) Laos Federation of Trade Unions (LFTU) and village representatives and 22 Individual stories from four provinces. Data analysis also included initial findings from a rapid data collection (8 April to 10 April) with garment factories workers who are project participants in the Vientiane capital (32 women and 8 men)
Myanmar	Interviews with 82 people (62 women and 20 men), aged between 16 and 53 years old. Respondents were from six states and regions: Mandalay region (10 interviews); Mon state (10 interviews), Kayah state (8 interviews), Kayin state (1 interview) Shan State (4 interviews) and Yangon region (47 interviews). Key informants included factory workers (29); sex workers (14); representatives of humanitarian, legal and women's organizations (13); government officials (8); health workers (6); and other members of the community (12) with diverse disability, LGBTQI, Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs) and migration status.
Thailand	A total of 29 migrants (18 women and 11 men) were interviewed from Fishery and Seafood Processing industries in two districts of Thailand, Samut Sakon and Pattani. The respondents comprised single men and women, married men and women, single mothers (widowed or divorced), housewives (women without paid income) and pregnant women or those with infant children.
Viet Nam	Remote in-depth interviews with two of CARE Viet Nam's programming impact groups. A total of 42 remote in-depth interviews were conducted, including: 14 with ethnic minorities (which included 2 female-headed households (FHH), 2 women with disabilities); 10 local authorities; 13 factory workers and 5 informal workers. This was complemented by a quick scan of resources from 20 Village Saving and Loan Associations (VSLAs). <sup>13</sup>

This Rapid Gender Analysis brings together the initial regional secondary data analysis as well as the primary and secondary data analysed from the following country-level Rapid Gender Analysis:

- CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia, (July 2020)
- <u>CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020)</u>
- CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Viet Nam (May 2020)
- Raks Thai, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand (June 2020)
- CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020)
- CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, Myanmar Rakhine State (August 2020)<sup>14</sup>

The purpose of this COVID-19 Rapid Gender Analysis for the Mekong region is:

- To analyse and better understand the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on women, men, girls, boys and specific at-risk groups in the Mekong region.
- As an advocacy tool to highlight specific risks to women, girls, men, boys and specific at-risk groups. This tool will be targeted at government, UN agencies, decision-makers and other responding agencies.
- To provide a set of recommendations to responding agencies for implementing COVID-19 response initiatives.

### Demographic profile

### Disaggregated country level population data by sex

In 2019, the Mekong region had a combined population of 220,133,111 people, with just over half of the population being women:

Population figures by country <sup>15</sup>	Cambodia	Lao PDR	Thailand	Myanmar	Viet Nam
Male	8,047,364	3,599,028	33,904,846	26,044,666	48,151,352
	(48.81%)	(50.20%)	(48.70%)	(48.19%)	(49.92%)
Female	8,439,178	3,570,428	35,720,735	28,000,756	48,310,756
	(51.19%)	(49.80%)	(51.30%)	(51.81%)	(50.08%)
Total	16,486,542	7,169,456	69,625,581	54,045,422	96,462,108

**Gender inequality**: According to the Global Gender Gap Index 2020, no country has achieved full gender parity, with the Mekong countries ranking: Lao PDR (43); Thailand (75); Viet Nam (87); Cambodia (89); and Myanmar (114) out of 153 countries in terms of the gender gap.<sup>16</sup> Cambodia, Lao PDR and Viet Nam have signed and ratified the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), and Thailand and Myanmar have ratified and acceded to the Convention.<sup>17</sup>

**Age and life expectancy**: The populations in the Mekong countries are young. An average of one in five are 0–14 years old, with the highest proportions in Lao PDR (34 per cent) and Cambodia (31 per cent), while just 17 per cent are in this age group in Thailand.<sup>18</sup> The average life expectancy varies greatly by country, with Lao PDR reporting the lowest life expectancy rates at an average of 67 years, and Thailand reporting the highest, at an average of 76 years. In all countries, women have a higher life expectancy than men, with the average life expectancy for men at 68 years compared to women at 74 years.<sup>19</sup>

**Non-communicable diseases** (NCDs): Including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer, and chronic respiratory diseases, are high in the Mekong. NCDs are estimated to account for on average 62 per cent of deaths in the region, (64 per cent of all deaths in Cambodia, 60 per cent in Lao PDR, 68 per cent in

Myanmar, 74 per cent in Thailand and 77 per cent in Viet Nam).<sup>20</sup> Men are more likely to die from NCDs than women. These statistics are of significance given that those at higher risk for severe illness or death from COVID-19 are those with underlying health conditions related to NCDs.

**Disability rates**: The rates for each Mekong country vary, with Lao PDR reporting a low disability rate, at just 1 per cent of the population in comparison with Viet Nam at 7.8 per cent of the population. This is significantly less than the global average, with about 15 per cent of the world's population identified as living with a disability<sup>21</sup> and may be attributed to how disability is defined and identified across different countries.

About the same number of women identify as having a disability as men in the Mekong, however, data indicates that women with disabilities continue to face additional barriers compared to men with disabilities: for example, 38.5 per cent of women with disabilities in Myanmar have not received a formal education, compared to 26.9 per cent of men.<sup>22</sup> Cambodia, Lao PDR, Thailand and Viet Nam are currently full signatories and have ratified the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, while Myanmar has acceded to the Convention.<sup>23</sup>

Disability rates, 2015 <sup>24</sup>	Cambodia	Lao PDR	Thailand	Myanmar	Viet Nam
	(2.1%)	(1%)	(2.2%)	(2.3%)	(7.8%)
Male	157,008	34,676	689,619	695,824	2,716,393
	(2.2%)	(1.2%)	(2.1%)	(2.6%)	(7%)
Female	144,622	22,051	789,042	580,176	3,358,150
	(1.9%)	(0.8%)	(2.3%)	(2.1%)	(8.4%)

**Intimate partner violence** (IPV) rates in the Mekong are high, with 37 per cent of ever-partnered women experiencing IPV, in comparison with the global average at 30 per cent.<sup>25</sup> At a country level, rates of IPV vary:

- Approximately 30 per cent of Cambodian women have experienced physical, sexual, emotional or economic IPV in their lifetime.<sup>26</sup> For women aged 15-64, 32 per cent experienced psychological violence by an intimate partner in their lifetime.<sup>27</sup>
- In Myanmar, 16 per cent of women aged 15-49 have experienced physical or sexual violence; however, under-reporting is likely and the same survey notes that 7 of 10 women who have ever experienced sexual violence have neither sought help nor told anyone about it.<sup>28</sup> For women aged 15-49, 13.5 per cent experienced psychological violence by an intimate partner in their lifetime.<sup>29</sup>
- In Viet Nam, nearly two-thirds (62.9 per cent) of women experienced at least one or more types of violence (physical, sexual, economic and/or psychological violence) in their lifetime by a husband, and 31.6 per cent experienced such violence in the last 12 months.<sup>30</sup>
- In Thailand, approximately 16 per cent of women encountered domestic violence in its various psychological, physical, or sexual forms.<sup>31</sup>
- In Lao PDR, the overall lifetime prevalence of physical violence by a partner or husband among everpartnered women in Lao PDR was 11.6 per cent, with little difference between urban and rural areas (12.0 per cent to 12.4 per cent respectively).<sup>32</sup> For women aged 15-64, 26.2 per cent experienced psychological violence by an intimate partner in their lifetime.<sup>33</sup>

### Ethnic minority groups

Viet Nam has 54 ethnic groups, of which Kinh people (Vietnamese) make up the majority (85.3 per cent) of the population. Most of Viet Nam's ethnic minorities live in remote, sparsely populated mountain regions in northern, central and western Viet Nam. While the government has made efforts to address the needs of ethnic minorities with numerous programmes that specifically target ethnic minority groups, ethnic minorities remain disadvantaged compared with other groups.<sup>34</sup> In particular, women and girls among ethnic minority groups are considerably disadvantaged in terms of the nature and quality of opportunities

and resources available to them, e.g. many still lack equal rights to land and equal access to agricultural credit and technologies, making them more likely to bear the negative impacts of a financial crisis.<sup>35</sup>

In Cambodia, 97 per cent of the population are Khmer and 2.2 per cent are indigenous ethnic minority (mother tongue). Khmer is the official language and ethnic minorities have their own language (which is not written).<sup>36</sup> The people of Lao PDR include 49 distinct ethnic groups.<sup>37</sup> These comprise the majority Lao ethnic group (53 per cent); Khamu (11 per cent); Hmong (9 per cent); and others (27 per cent).<sup>38</sup> In Myanmar, there are 135 officially recognised ethnic groups, with the Bamar ethnic majority comprising an estimated 68 per cent of the population.<sup>39</sup> The Rohingya ethnic minority group is not recognised under law (specifically the 1982 Burma Citizenship Law<sup>40</sup>) as one of the national races of Myanmar, which effectively renders the Rohingya stateless.<sup>41</sup>

### Urban rural divide

Cambodia has by far the largest rural population (79.2 per cent of the total population in 2015) and Thailand the lowest (49.6 per cent), with Vietnam's rural population at 66.4 per cent of the total, Myanmar 65.9 per cent and Lao PDR 61.3 per cent.<sup>42</sup> Rural to urban migration across the Mekong countries is common. In Vietnam, poverty rates are higher among ethnic minorities, and in rural and remote areas, which in turn drives labour migration from rural areas.<sup>43</sup>

In Lao PDR, four in 10 people in Vientiane are internal migrants.<sup>44</sup> In Myanmar, many female sex workers are internal migrants – having been recruited directly from rural areas or among recent migrants to cities.<sup>45</sup> COVID-19 is highlighting disparities between rural and urban communities, including access to services (e.g. health, WASH and education) as well as information.

### Demographic analysis of specific at-risk groups, COVID-19

The following highlight key demographic data of at-risk groups likely to be impacted directly or indirectly as a result of COVID-19. While it is noted that there are other groups impacted, the following were identified through the country-level Rapid Gender Analysis.

### Migrant workers:

As of December 2019, there were 2,788,316 registered migrant workers in Thailand (the largest migrant receiving country in the Mekong) and an unknown number of undocumented migrant workers. These workers are from a range of countries, largely Lao PDR, Cambodia, and Myanmar, and just over 50 per cent of them are women.<sup>46</sup> Women from the Mekong (especially Cambodian women), are more likely than men to rely on informal social networks and chain migration, following their relatives or friends who are already employed abroad.<sup>47</sup>

The Cabinet of Thailand approved visa extensions for migrant workers from Cambodia, Lao PDR, and Myanmar under a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), and at time of writing this report, gave them the right to remain in Thailand until 31 May 2020 (International Labour Organization, 2020). Registered migrant workers under Article 64 could extend their visa and work permits until 31 July<sup>48</sup> in order to mitigate potential labour shortages as the country's economy reopens (Foreign Workers Administration Office, 2020).<sup>49</sup>

### Garment factory workers:

Millions of garment factory workers are employed in the Mekong region, and the majority of these workers are women. There are over 750,000 garment factory workers in Cambodia, 77 per cent of whom are women.<sup>50</sup> In Viet Nam, 2.5 million people (82 per cent women) are employed by textile and garment companies, with another two million in supporting industries, such as packing.<sup>51</sup> In Myanmar, more than 700,000 people are employed in the garment sector in Myanmar, and an estimated 90 per cent of them are women.<sup>52</sup>

Lao PDR has the smallest garment factory sector out of the five countries, employing about 30,000 workers,<sup>53</sup> 85 per cent of whom are women.<sup>54</sup> In Thailand, there are 1.03 million garment factory workers, with 70 per cent being female.<sup>55</sup>

Working conditions and employee protections in the garment sector were poor pre-COVID, for example, with many garment workers in Myanmar lacking written contracts.<sup>56</sup> In Viet Nam, a study highlighted that over half (53.3 per cent) have experienced sexual harassment in the garment sector.<sup>57</sup>

### Informal workers:

1.3 billion people – or 68.2 per cent of the employed population in Asia-Pacific make their living in the informal economy (such as in agriculture, as street traders or as domestic workers). Informal workers are those who do not have access to rights at work (such as a contract) and social protection.<sup>58</sup> Informal employment is predominant in rural areas (85.2 per cent of employment) and makes up almost half of employment (47.4 per cent) in urban areas.

Women in employment are more likely to engage in informal work than men.<sup>59</sup> Informal employment rates (excluding agriculture) are high in Cambodia (87 per cent for men and 94 per cent for women) and Myanmar (81 per cent for men and 87 per cent for women), and lower in Thailand (36 per cent for men and 37 per cent for women).<sup>60</sup>

### Female sex workers:

The bulk of sex workers in the Mekong region are women, recruited directly from villages and small towns or among the recent migrants to cities. The majority of the world's trafficked people are in Southeast Asia, and about half of those are forced into sex work.<sup>61</sup> In Cambodia there are approximately 34,000 sex workers, 13,400 in Lao PDR, 66,000 in Myanmar, 147,000 in Thailand and 71,900 in Viet Nam.<sup>62</sup> Female sex workers face stigma, discrimination and higher levels of GBV because of their involvement in sex work. Patriarchal norms across the Mekong region related to sexuality, and women's disadvantaged economic and social position, maintains the sex industry in many countries.<sup>63</sup>

A significant proportion of female sex workers are illiterate and sexual exploitation and abuse (as well as other forms of violence) is rife.<sup>64</sup> Female sex workers (and in some cases, their children) face stigma and discrimination, which affects their access to healthcare, the rental market, and social and economic opportunities.<sup>65</sup> Transgendered female sex workers are a particularly vulnerable group due to intense stigmatisation and social marginalisation, which can create additional barriers to services and information.<sup>66</sup>

### Gender roles and responsibilities

### Gendered division of domestic labour

Despite cultural, historical and political differences between countries in the Mekong region, patriarchal gender roles pervade all five countries. Although traditional values are changing, in Cambodia, traditional moral codes for women (Chbab Srey) and men (Chbab Pror) state that women are of lower status than men and should serve and respect men, particularly their husbands.<sup>67</sup>

In Viet Nam, there is strong familial and community culture towards "son preference". While daughters are often valued for their emotional closeness to their parents, and the practical and economic contributions they add to their households, the 'reliability' of a son is thought to be essential for carrying on family lines and names, performing ancestor worship, and taking financial care of the parents in their old age.<sup>68</sup>

Across all countries in the Mekong region, the allocation of unpaid domestic work largely falls upon women. Women are primarily responsible for caring responsibilities (e.g. children, the elderly, the sick) and domestic labour such as cleaning and food preparation. Research by the International Labour Organization has found that women in the Asia-Pacific undertake on average 76 per cent of the unpaid care work.<sup>69</sup>

In Viet Nam, employed women worked on average 38.8 hours per week in their paid jobs (1.2 hours less than men), *plus* 23.5 hours per week in the household (12.7 hours more than men).<sup>70</sup> In Cambodia, women traditionally spend more than 10 times as much time on unpaid care and domestic work than men.<sup>71</sup> In Thailand, migrant women worked approximately 28 hours (21 hours more than men) in unpaid tasks.<sup>72</sup> In Lao PDR, women spend significantly more time on unpaid domestic labour and caregiving (an average of four hours per day) compared to men (30 minutes per day). This increases for families with children, where women spend, on average six hours per day, compared to men who spend an hour a day.<sup>73</sup> For ethnic minority families in Lao PDR, these gender norms are deep-rooted and children are socialised into their roles from an early age.<sup>74</sup>

The increased demand on unpaid care and domestic work has been notable during the COVID-19 pandemic. In areas where healthcare systems become stretched by COVID-19 outbreaks, caring responsibilities are even more likely to be transferred onto women in the home.

In Lao PDR, respondents noted that during the pandemic, women's roles have centred around staying at home, keeping the house clean, ensuring sanitary meal preparation and caring for children. On the other hand, men's responsibilities have included going to community meetings to receive information about COVID-19, advising family members on prevention (e.g. handwashing, mask wearing, social distancing) and being responsible for essential trips outside of the home.<sup>75</sup>

Some respondents noted that both men and women were sharing household responsibilities, including domestic chores and childcare, as a result of men spending more time at home.<sup>76</sup> Respondents, for example, noted "*both men and women have the same tasks* (*e.g. social distancing, handwashing, following the news*)", "we discuss with each other", "We work together" and "*both men and women have the same responsibility for prevention*".<sup>77</sup>

Ethnic minority communities in Lao PDR noted that they are in a transition phase; bringing together traditional practices with the increasing modernisation of society. Respondents noted that this transition is being reflected in the response to COVID-19, with women taking on more domestic tasks whilst shifts are also being seen with men and women helping each other at home with regards to housework and childcare.<sup>78</sup>

In Viet Nam, most respondents noted little change in the gendered division of labour during the pandemic. Women still take on most of the housework and caring role in both rural and urban areas. While men sometimes take these roles on to *support* women, it is not seen as their responsibility. Some changes in the gendered division of labour were reported in families where both the husband and wife are migrant workers, and in cases where the wife is employed outside the home, men are taking on childcare responsibilities while they are at home due to being unemployed. However, housework is still considered the woman's responsibility:

## "He looks after our son when I go to work. But when I come back, I take that responsibility, do the cooking and washing. He never does these when I am at home." - Female garment worker in Ho Chi Minh City, Viet Nam.

For migrant workers in Thailand, the level of unpaid domestic work men and women engage in depended on their occupation. Fishermen would spend the majority of the day out at sea and therefore contributed little to domestic tasks. Women married to fishermen therefore bore the burden of domestic responsibilities and had little time for paid work. Male and female seafood processing workers appear to have spent similar amounts of time on paid and unpaid work.<sup>79</sup> For migrant worker families who returned back to Cambodia, traditional gender roles continued, with men seeking work in the village or in Phnom Penh to support the family, while women stayed at home to take care of the house and the children.<sup>80</sup>

In Myanmar, some key informants reported that with both women and men spending more time at home, some men were taking on a greater share of the caring and domestic work, including childcare and cooking.

"During COVID-19 crisis, there are economic and income related changes due to business being shut down and [people] staying at home. As men stay at home long, they understand more about the burden of house chores on women and get engaged to help. Previously my husband and I discussed only on important issues, now, they are more at home and have more conversation, not only on business matters but also on children's education" – 53-year-old woman in Mandalay.<sup>81</sup>

In addition to household and caring duties, full and partial closure of schools across the region have exacerbated the burden of unpaid care work on women. While schools are gradually re-opening, e.g. in Thailand<sup>82</sup> and Lao PDR<sup>83</sup>, it is likely that the schools will continue to open and close as the pandemic situation evolves in each country.

In Viet Nam, interviewees reported facing challenges, such as difficulty dividing their time between work and caring for children, especially those with younger children and/or children participating in online learning: *"I have a child at grade one. Now besides other things, I need time to teach her. In the past, [her] grandmother can help but now I must do it since it is online study which my mother cannot control. It is hard for all of us working in factories if the study time of children is during working hours."* - Trade Union representative in a garment factory in Hai Phong.

As formal and informal childcare declines, the demand for unpaid childcare will fall more heavily on women and adolescent girls, possibly resulting in women needing to make sacrifices in other areas, such as paid work.<sup>84</sup> Women's caring responsibilities also puts them at greater risk of contracting and spreading COVID-19 and, as the primary carers in the household, if women fall ill, others may struggle to care for them.

While it was noted across the region that men had taken on some of the household and domestic responsibilities, this was often framed as men 'supporting' or 'helping' women with work that was still perceived (by both men and women) to be the role of women, rather than a significant re-shaping of gender roles. Nevertheless, this is being noted as an opportunity and an important starting point.

### Gendered division of paid labour

Many of the sectors in which women are predominantly employed – often part-time, lower paid, informal or insecure employment – have been the hardest hit by COVID-19 containment measures, such as

shutdowns and travel restrictions. Women and girls also face specific risks to infection due to the types of work that they do.

**Globally, 70 per cent of the health workforce are women**.<sup>85</sup> They are also the majority of health facility service-staff – usually employed as cleaners, laundry staff or in catering – and as such they are more likely to be exposed to the virus.<sup>86</sup> In Southeast Asia, 80 per cent of nurses are women, with increasing numbers of women moving into higher skilled positions such as physicians and pharmacists.<sup>87</sup> In Lao PDR approximately two-thirds of nurses are women<sup>88</sup> as well as women occupying management positions within the healthcare section, on par with men (49.3 per cent women; 50.7 per cent men).<sup>89</sup> As nurses, women's roles involve particularly close and prolonged contact with sick patients<sup>90</sup> which puts them at increased risk of the virus.

Healthcare workers interviewed in Lao PDR raised several issues brought on by the pandemic, including concerns over their physical and mental health. Healthcare workers spoke of experiencing stress and anxiety around contracting the virus, and referred to a lack of protective equipment that was placing them at greater risk of infection. One interviewee explained:

### "[We are] worried about our safety because we do not have the protection kits and there are many people coming into the health center."<sup>91</sup>

Women and girls are also heavily concentrated in other industries that expose them to COVID-19. Globally, **women are the majority of sex workers**.<sup>92</sup> Sex workers in Myanmar are increasingly finding it challenging to earn an income due to government-imposed curfews as they and their clients are unable to leave their homes.<sup>93</sup> All 14 female sex workers interviewed during the Rapid Gender Analysis reported that COVID-19 was having a critical impact on their lives and livelihoods. With karaoke bars/clubs, massage parlours and restaurants closed, and curfews imposed, it is extremely difficult to work.<sup>94</sup>

Some have no income at all, while others are continuing to work, but less, and at much greater personal risk; now working on the street and/or going to client's homes:

### "Because the guesthouses are shut down, when I work, I had to follow the customer to his friend's place. His friend also joined us but paid for only one person. If I complain, I might be beaten, therefore I had to accept what they paid. If I report to the police, I will be the one who arrested." -Female sex worker in Yangon.

In Thailand, an estimated 300,000 sex workers are without work due to the closure of walking-streets, bars, massage parlours, and other entertainment venues. A community-led rapid assessment in Bangkok, Pattaya, and Dannok found that 75 per cent of respondents no longer made enough money to cover daily expenses, and 66 per cent could no longer cover the cost of housing.<sup>95</sup> Although the Thai government has announced a US\$58 billion stimulus package to assist workers, small enterprises and other businesses, sex workers are not able to access this support as they lack documentation to prove their self-employment status.<sup>96</sup>

**The tourism industry** has also been affected substantially by the pandemic, with 75 million jobs at risk globally, of which 49 million are in the Asia-Pacific.<sup>97</sup> On average, just over half of all tourism workers in the Mekong region are women, with women tending to be employed in lower-skilled jobs that pay lower wages, while men hold more managerial positions in government and private tourism enterprises.<sup>98</sup> Travel restrictions have been widely imposed in the Mekong region, moving the tourism industry into a standstill,<sup>99</sup> which will have significant impacts on women's economic security and survival.

**The garment and textiles industry** is also predominantly comprised of female workers. Working conditions in garment factories put women at risk of contracting COVID-19 as social distancing may not be possible on the factory floor and employers may not be implementing appropriate health and safety measures.<sup>100</sup> Women may have little decision-making power over their working hours, breaks to wash their hands or other sanitary needs, and accommodation provided by employers is often overcrowded with only basic WASH facilities.<sup>101</sup> If women do fall ill, they may have little or no access to sick pay, health insurance or healthcare services.<sup>102</sup>

The pandemic has impacted the job security of many garment factory workers who may be affected by cancelled export orders.<sup>103</sup> This has led to protests by garment factory workers outside of their factories to protest unpaid wages.<sup>104</sup> Women garment factory workers in Cambodia are excluded from leadership roles, receive a lower salary (81 per cent of men's earnings), receive less education and training than men, are recognised less for their contributions, and are more likely to be exploited and harassed in the workplace.<sup>105</sup> In Viet Nam, an estimated 78 per cent of garment workers have had their jobs suspended or hours cut due to the pandemic.<sup>106</sup> In Myanmar, 50 per cent of the 700,000 garment workers are at risk of either being suspended without pay, or losing their jobs permanently, due to the pandemic.<sup>107</sup> Many of the garment worker respondents in Myanmar described struggling to meet their basic needs, including food and healthcare. They reported reducing expenditure, borrowing money, and selling household items to survive.<sup>108</sup>

In Lao PDR, respondents confirmed that many garment factories had closed with 90 per cent of the interviewees not working at the time. The respondents' financial situations were mixed, with 37.5 per cent still receiving their full income, 7.5 per cent receiving reduced income (generally 50 per cent of their income), and 15 per cent receiving no income. Most respondents (40 per cent) were unsure about their factories' plans to pay them and whether they would receive full, partial or no pay. Similar findings were found in Viet Nam where male and female factory workers experienced a decrease in working hours, with salaries reducing by 20 per cent to 50 per cent.<sup>109</sup>

**Fishing and seafood processing:** Other industries are facing similar challenges. In Thailand: 50 per cent of fishermen interviewed during the Rapid Gender Analysis said that their salaries were reduced; 20 per cent noted that their salaries did not change; while others remained unemployed due to factory closures, were suspended from work without income, or had changes to their shifts.<sup>110</sup> One fisherman noted that since the pandemic, due to the suspension of fishing, his income reduced from 12,000 – 13,000 Baht (US \$390-420) to 6,000 Baht (US \$195) per month.

Respondents in Thailand, shared experiences which pointed to the differential treatment of men and women in the seafood processing industry with regards to pay, income security and benefits. A respondent noted that female workers were paid by the amount of work (by the kilo) completed, yet male workers received a steady income with a promise of health benefits if unwell, and were on monthly salaries regardless of the amount of work they completed.<sup>111</sup> Two of the female seafood processing workers said that their working days were cut by 1 to 2 days per week, which resulted in income loss, while another undocumented female worker without a contract was paid on commission.

**Impact on remittances**: It is estimated that informal remittance flows from Thailand to Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar and Viet Nam are potentially double the size of formal flows and amount to US\$6-10 billion. Women migrant workers generally send a larger proportion of their income home (17 per cent, compared to 10 per cent sent by men)<sup>112</sup> and the majority of remittance recipients are women in rural areas.<sup>113</sup> Hence, women migrant workers may be more financially vulnerable than male migrant workers, with a lower percentage of their income remaining after remittances.

In Thailand, the majority of migrants interviewed stated that they suspended sending money back home, despite being one of the primary reasons for migration. In Cambodia, one factory worker stated that lack of overtime, lower salaries and job suspensions limited the workers' ability to send remittances to their families in the provinces. They also reported struggling to get enough food due to increased prices and limited access to markets during lockdown. Some respondents reported using savings and selling items in order to buy food and necessary supplies.<sup>114</sup>

**Returnee migrant workers**: In Lao PDR, financial difficulties were the most common issue raised by returnee migrant workers. While some had returned to Lao PDR with small savings, many returned with no resources. Some reported the 14-day quarantine period increased stress levels, as it was perceived as "wasted time" in which they were unable to look for other work. Some returnee migrant workers resumed previous forms of work, such as working on familial agricultural plots or producing handicrafts, while searching for alternative forms of work.<sup>115</sup> The families of returnee migrant workers are experiencing a double financial blow: a reduction in remittances and increasing demand on family resources. Some have resorted to borrowing money from family, village funds or banks, creating further stress.

In the Mekong countries, women tend to be highly active in small-scale income generation and agriculture.<sup>116</sup> In rural Viet Nam, 63.4 per cent of working women are in agriculture, compared to 57.5 per cent of working men, and they are more likely to work on smaller farms and cultivate subsistence crops.<sup>117</sup> Existing gender inequalities such as women's limited access to agricultural extension services and technology transfer, combined with the drought and saltwater intrusion early in the year, and the pandemic, mean women are in an increasingly precarious position.

In Viet Nam, farmers from ethnic rural areas noted impacts as a result of travel restrictions, with farmers not being able to bring their agricultural products to central areas to sell: "Our main distribution channel is the bus stops, but the number of bus trips is reduced...Thus, we could not sell banana chips and dried bananas there. In the meantime, green bananas [unprocessed banana] were sold to traders but now they do not collect, even though I had dropped price to 2.500 VND /kg because the border with China is closed. Currently, we still have around 400-500kg dried banana in store and it is going to be out of date in the next couple of months. The income of cooperative members are reduced." - Male head of banana production cooperative in Bac Kan.

In Lao PDR, nearly 70 per cent of the population live in rural areas, and many women generate income through agriculture. While respondents in Lao PDR noted the loss of work and income has affected men and women, they noted specific impacts on women, including the closure of markets which has affected women's ability to sell their crops and non-food items such as handicrafts and charcoal. This has placed women and their families in a state of financial distress.<sup>118</sup>

For rural ethnic communities in Lao PDR, this has caused many women to have either no income or reduced income from their agricultural work;

#### "Women...get offers from an external dealer to [buy from their] cucumber garden, but when it grows, nobody comes to buys as promised. If we will sell it to people in the village, no one comes to buy it."

Interviewees also raised issues of decreased agricultural outputs, increased barriers to accessing agricultural plots, reduced prices of the produce they are selling and decreased income from other sources as well as a lack of savings. This has all lead to "women [needing to] work harder than before."<sup>119</sup> Due to men's greater freedom of mobility compared to women in Lao PDR, they tend to travel further to seek alternative forms of work and income – which is also seen as putting them more at risk of contracting the virus.<sup>120</sup>

### Access and control of resources

Despite women's significant contribution through their productive and reproductive labour (the former of which they are paid for and the latter pertaining to the unpaid duties they carry out in the household such as cleaning and caregiving) across the Mekong region, persistent gender inequalities remain at large when it comes to women's access to productive resources, such as land, services and inputs, finance, training, information, markets and institutions.<sup>121</sup> Ownership of land, and access to and control over resources within the home are greatly shaped by gender and control across the region, and can further be used to assess the potential coping mechanisms of each household during the health pandemic, depending on whether the households are male- or female-headed. The need for safe shelter is particularly relevant during the pandemic as both a prevention and response measure.

In Cambodia, both men and women can inherit property<sup>122</sup> however, intersectional factors such as age and wealth play a role in determining a woman's status and access to resources. Women who are older, divorced, separated, or widowed and those who live in urban areas, are better educated, or are paid in cash, will have greater financial control over the assets they own.<sup>123</sup> The extent to which women control the household's financial resources is crucial as it may affect their ability to seek medical care for themselves or their children if they fall ill with COVID-19, or it may affect how they handle other needs that arise due to the pandemic, particularly if household financial resources are scarce. CARE has been supporting women's access to, and their control over resources, through establishing savings groups such as Village Savings and Loans Associations (VSLAs) implemented in Viet Nam, Cambodia, Lao PDR and Myanmar. Since 1991, CARE has worked with women to set up VSLAs, which have had proven positive effects on women's economic, social and political empowerment.<sup>124</sup> However, the pandemic has the potential to seriously affect CARE's global network of 8.4 million VSLA members, more than 80 per cent of whom are female.

Interviews with VSLA leaders in Viet Nam highlighted the link between savings and unpredictable employment due to the crisis.<sup>125</sup> There has been a significant increase of members borrowing money in the period between January to April 2020, compared to the same period in 2019. Interviews with VSLA leaders critically emphasised the high demand of borrowing money from VSLA and the safety and effectiveness of the fund in supporting women's lives during the crisis in both rural and urban settings: "*Many members want to borrow but do not have enough money, we have to divide the loan into smaller amounts so everyone in need can get a loan. This fund is very useful although the amount is not large, it helps sharing difficulties in short-term" - VSLA leader in Dien Bien.* 

Anecdotal evidence from CARE International in Cambodia<sup>126</sup> and CARE International in Lao PDR<sup>127</sup>, has found that VSLA groups are being impacted by social distancing restrictions and are unable to continue to meet. VSLA groups are also struggling to pay back loans due to the economic downturn.<sup>128</sup> CARE International in Myanmar has noticed similar challenges with its VSLA groups,<sup>129</sup> while CARE International in Viet Nam has noted a significant reduction in monthly purchased shares per member, per VSLA.<sup>130</sup>

### Decision-making, participation and leadership

### Household decision-making

In Lao PDR, women, generally made decisions over food consumption and housework and men largely made decisions around earning money, financial planning, raising livestock, construction or repairs and problem solving. There was a general pattern of women being responsible for smaller decisions and men for larger decisions or the "final" decision.

### *"We share decision making on everything, both women and men. However the husband would be the final decision maker"*.<sup>131</sup>

There were, however, differences seen between provinces. In Luang Namtha province of Lao PDR, most interviewees stated that women 'keep' the money and manage daily household expenses, whereas men manage family assets such as transportation (e.g. motorbikes). In Phongsaly and Sekong provinces, most interviewees reported that husbands and wives manage financial resources and expenses together.

Across all provinces, a small minority of households reported that the woman is the decision-maker. While there were no changes noted in rural areas as a result of COVID-19, within the capital of Vientiane, changes had been seen as a result of financial pressures, with increased discussions taking place between husbands and wives on how to manage their financial situation, with husbands consulting their wives more now, than before the pandemic, when making purchases.<sup>132</sup>

In Viet Nam, while women's engagement in decision-making at the household level is increasing, men have more power over important decisions in both rural families and migrant families living in the cities. Vietnamese husbands and wives are increasingly more likely to discuss and make joint decisions on major decisions including income usage, savings, and business development.<sup>133</sup> In the context of COVID-19, women usually make decisions related to prevention, such as monitoring the personal hygiene practices of family members and purchasing prevention supplies, which is closely associated with their traditional caring roles in the family.

For other decisions on coping strategies, including alternative income generation activities, replacement sources for loan and interest payment or housework arrangements, interviewees indicated that the participation of both men and women in decision-making was relatively equal.<sup>134</sup> With regards to debt

repayments, in many cases the husband is considered the person responsible for repayments, however women believe that women must take on the burden and worry of making payments. This worry is likely to be greater in female-headed households where the women will need to take on the full burden of debt: *"We got loans for purchasing 2 cows, two years ago [35 million VND] and building house last year [25 million VND] from the Social Policy Bank [the government program for poor households]. I have to pay around 4.4 million VND every month. This month, I could not earn any money for payment" - Migrant woman, 27 year old, Khmer ethnicity, in Tra Vinh.<sup>135</sup>* 

In Thailand, the majority of male and female respondents indicated that the wife or the mother of the family made decisions regarding household matters, including the management of spending and saving. However, joint decisions were generally made on important matters, such as purchasing land or expensive goods, debt repayment and sending money home, with only a few female respondents indicating they were sole decision-makers in these issues. The decision-making power of female migrants varied based on their marital status and financial dependency. Financially dependent women had less decision-making power and financial confidence, compared to those who were financially independent, single or living alone.<sup>136</sup>

Similarly, in Cambodia, decision-making power in the household was strongly linked to household income contribution, highlighting the potential impacts that loss of income may have on women in the family.<sup>137</sup>

In Myanmar, women's lack of control over household finances is even more acute, with women only being responsible for small daily purchases, such as groceries, and all other financial decisions being made by men, without consultation.<sup>138</sup> For respondents in Myanmar, key informants (men and women) overwhelmingly reported that COVID-19 had not resulted in any changes to decision-making patterns at household level, access to or control over resources at household level, or decision-making at community level.

### Participation in public decision-making

In the Mekong, community decision-making tends to be dominated by male leaders.<sup>139</sup> During community decision-making meetings and consultations on disaster risk management and climate change adaptation, only a small number of women are present, making it less likely they will receive critical information for preparedness or influence decisions. When women are excluded from decision-making, their needs and priorities become invisible. This results in preparedness, relief and recovery approaches that neither engage women, nor serve them, which can increase the impact of crises, such as COVID-19. This is particularly so for marginalised women, such as female sex workers in Myanmar who are perceived as improper and undignified, and generally not invited to participate in decision-making processes.<sup>140</sup>

At the level of national governments, women are significantly under-represented in the Mekong region.<sup>141</sup> Globally, women comprise 25 per cent of national parliamentarians (as of May 2020), but the percentage of women in the Asia-Pacific parliaments is currently around 20 per cent.<sup>142</sup> Although Viet Nam has a higher proportion of seats held by women in national parliaments at 26.7 per cent,<sup>143</sup> women are still under-represented in government and have little opportunity for meaningful participation in local, regional, and national governance and decision-making. In Lao PDR, female representation in national parliaments is 27.5 per cent,<sup>144</sup> which includes 76 women Members of Parliament (MPs), 4 LGBTIQ MPs, and 418 male MPs.

However at the provincial level, there are no women governors, only three women vice-governors<sup>145</sup> and at the village level 1.7 per cent of village chiefs and 7.2 per cent of deputy village chief are women.<sup>146</sup> Myanmar is a leader in women's participation in the public sector, with women representing 63 per cent of all civil servants.<sup>147</sup> However, this has not translated into more women in senior leadership roles. Women are under-represented in parliament, filling just 10.5 per cent of seats in the national parliament, less than half the global average and representation is even lower at the local level.

In Thailand, women make up 15.8 per cent of MPs and 10.4 per cent of senators.<sup>148</sup> This means government decisions about COVID-19 preparedness and response plans and resource allocations may be made without women at the table or without sufficient representation to address women's short and long-term needs. Not only are women best placed to identify their needs, they also have the right to influence the decisions that impact their lives.

Women's machineries play a critical role in the response to COVID-19, especially in relation to GBV, and are an important vehicle for women's leadership at a broader level. Women's rights NGOs operate across the Mekong region, are well organised, and work on specific issues, such as in Cambodia where there is a significant focus on violence against women and trafficking.<sup>149</sup> In Myanmar, a large focus of women's organisations is on peace and security, law reform, and violence against women.<sup>150</sup> These women-led NGOs are critical and have been an invaluable resource during the pandemic, to provide expertise and guidance in developing gender-sensitive COVID-19 response strategies and supporting women's leadership in the response.

Already, the pandemic is threatening the organisational continuity of many grassroots organisations in the region: for example, as early as April, 71 per cent of women-focused CSOs surveyed by UN Women reported that COVID-19 was affecting them somewhat or very negatively, with 12 per cent suspending activities altogether.<sup>151</sup> The Asia-Pacific Transgender Network reported that all of their project partners expressed concern about how to sustain the operational costs of their organizations<sup>152</sup> which provide critical services for transgender people in the region. Similarly, the ASEAN SOGIE Caucus reported that several funders of LGBTQI+ groups had reneged on agreed funding, threatening organisational continuity.<sup>153</sup> The current crisis is a time when CSOs, NGOs and advocacy organisations, including those for disabled persons, LGBTQI+ people, sex workers and migrant workers, are needed more than ever and their continued support is vital.<sup>154</sup>

### Structures and processes established for COVID-19

Despite women constituting a majority of frontline healthcare workers, placing them in prime positions to identify COVID-19 trends at the local level, they are a minority in national and global health leadership.<sup>155</sup> Gender expertise is lacking in current pandemic planning, outbreak response, and post-pandemic recovery.<sup>156</sup> In Cambodia, the government's COVID-19 National Committee has 27 members and only two of them are women.<sup>157</sup> In Lao PDR, the National Taskforce Committee for COVID-19 Prevention and Control is comprised of 11 people, of which two are women.<sup>158</sup> In Myanmar, the governance mechanisms established for the COVID-19 response are largely drawn from existing governance systems, and therefore continue to underrepresent women. Women with disabilities, sex workers, and other marginalised groups are even less likely to be represented.<sup>159</sup>

In Viet Nam, the government COVID-19 Taskforce has 22 members, only four of whom are women,<sup>160</sup> with the most important positions (such as the head and deputies) filled by men.<sup>161</sup> This underrepresentation means that women have fewer opportunities to ensure that women's needs are taken into consideration during COVID-19 decision-making processes and response planning. As an example, the Vietnamese government introduced a range of new policies and procedures such as the Decree 41/2020/ND-CP (Decree 41); Decision 15, which focuses on economic impact and includes tax breaks, delayed tax payments and land-use fees for businesses, and reduced interest rates. Whilst important, other measures such as access to safe reproductive health services and prevention of and response to GBV have not been adequately prioritised in policy responses.<sup>162</sup>

Responses were mixed from respondents in Lao PDR when it came to women's participation in community decision-making platforms for COVID-19 prevention and response. In Luang Namtha province, respondents stated that women were involved in the design, planning, implementation and evaluation of the COVID-19 response, whereas others (e.g. Phongsaly and Vientiane) said only a limited number of women were involved in decision-making. Across all provinces however, there were respondents who felt that women who were engaged had a primary role in disseminating information and following guidance, rather than developing and leading the response.<sup>163</sup>

Trade unions also play a role in representing the needs of their members. The Cambodia garment industry has more than 100 trade unions, with over 90 per cent female membership, however, only two women fill national leadership positions.<sup>164</sup> This highlights that groups who can lobby and advocate during the pandemic also do not have women represented in top positions. A lack of consultation with members has also been reported, with respondents in Viet Nam noting they were informed rather than consulted with, regarding changes to their employment status or conditions such as contract terminations, changes in working hours and changes in monthly bonuses. One woman explained,

"I was informed by the factory to take leave without pay by April 30th afterward until the factory get new order. We do not know when we can come back."<sup>165</sup> - Female garment worker in Viet Nam

### Access to services and resources

### Access to WASH services

Proper handwashing (alongside social distancing) has been identified as an important COVID-19 prevention strategy by the World Health Organization (WHO) and supported by governments, UN agencies, NGOs, civil society organisations and healthcare workers.<sup>166</sup> Despite the centrality of handwashing to prevent COVID-19, access to basic WASH facilities across the Mekong region is varied (66 per cent in Cambodia; 50 per cent of the population in Lao PDR; 79 per cent in Myanmar; 84 per cent in Thailand; 86 per cent in Viet Nam),<sup>167</sup> and lack of access is likely to be compounded by the Mekong drought which has, in particular, severely impacted Viet Nam and Thailand.

Specific segments of the population have particular difficulties accessing proper WASH facilities. For example, access to WASH facilities is much lower in rural communities (e.g. In Myanmar, urban WASH access is 92 per cent, whilst rural access is 74 per cent; Cambodia urban 88 per cent, rural 60 per cent; Viet Nam urban 93 per cent, rural 82 per cent).<sup>168</sup> In Myanmar, the WASH Cluster coordinator and six key informants (four women, two men) reported challenges with water scarcity, making frequent hand washing more difficult for men and women living in these areas, potentially increasing their risk of contracting COVID-19. One 25-year-old female sex worker in Mandalay reported having to purchase water and needing to limit usage, highlighting the disproportionate impact on marginalised groups, who are likely to have fewer social and economic resources to cope with water shortages.<sup>169</sup>

Those interviewed in Lao PDR observed a number of changes since COVID-19. Both women and men have an increased knowledge of hygiene and sanitation practices as it related to the pandemic, with an emphasis on maintaining a clean living environment and improving personal hygiene practices. Boys tended to be guided by their parents and showed some improved level of personal hygiene. Girls often had a dual role in being cared for by parents but also caregiving through household cleaning tasks.<sup>170</sup> Hygiene and handwashing promotion may inadvertently increase the workload of women and girls who are responsible for collecting water and maintaining household sanitation and hygiene. This is particularly so in rural areas lacking water supply infrastructure, where long walks may be required to collect water.<sup>171</sup> Water fetching can also expose women and girls to the risk of GBV.<sup>172</sup>,<sup>173</sup>

Women and girls experience a disproportionate burden from inadequate sanitation facilities, due to both physiological differences such menstruation and gender norms which place them at risk of GBV.<sup>174</sup> Many WASH facilities also do not cater to the accessibility and needs of persons with disabilities. These issues are not limited to rural settings but also found in informal urban settlements which are common across the Mekong countries (Cambodia 50 per cent; Lao PDR 31 per cent; Myanmar 41 per cent; Thailand 25 per cent; Viet Nam 27 per cent).<sup>175</sup> Urban slum-dwellers, particularly women, children, persons with disabilities and the elderly, may have difficulties accessing adequate WASH facilities due to physical access or safety issues, a lack of running water, or the high price of water. This combined with cramped living conditions and communal spaces, mean urban slums across the Mekong region present a significant risk for the spread of COVID-19.<sup>176</sup>

The dignified management of menstruation is particularly challenging for adolescent girls and women in the subregion during the pandemic. Restrictions on mobility due to self-isolation and quarantine, combined with potential reductions in income, have been reported to negatively impact women and girls' ability to access menstrual health products. This is compounded by the social taboos surrounding menstruation, common in most cultures of the Mekong. In Myanmar, for example, it is believed that touching or preparing food whilst menstruating may bring bad luck to men and boys.<sup>177</sup> During quarantine or self-isolation, this may exacerbate violence towards menstruating women or increase the workload of other women in the household. Such myths and misconceptions may also adversely affect caregiving for children, people with a disability, the elderly and those who are sick.

### Mobility

The requirement to self-isolate or quarantine across the Mekong region has resulted in restricted access to public spaces and services that will affect women and children in terms of childcare, education, livelihoods, access to health and other services, or seeking social support from friends and family.<sup>178</sup>

Men and women may have different access to transportation, impacting their mobility, especially during a crisis when transportation may be essential to accessing services or maintaining livelihoods. A Rapid Gender Analysis by CARE of the 2015-16 Cambodia El Nino Phenomena identified that many women in rural Cambodia, especially older women, had limited or no access to transportation and many stated they feared for their safety and health when leaving their villages to collect water.

As men usually have access to a motorbike, it was reported that they had increased coping capacities compared to women.<sup>179</sup> Similarly, in Myanmar, transport options for poor and middle-class women are limited, since men control the use of the family vehicle.<sup>180</sup> In Lao PDR, rural women are dependent on men to accompany them on motorbikes. Furthermore, rigid gender norms can undermine women's confidence and driving skills.<sup>181</sup> COVID-19 response strategies must therefore consider the access of different groups, especially women, to reliable transportation, as well as considering the protection issues associated with using transportation.

Government imposed mobility restrictions will also have a significant impact on migration flows in the Mekong region, with an estimated three million migrants across the region,<sup>182</sup> many of whom are women. For example, closures and restrictions along the Thailand-Myanmar border have had adverse effects on migrants returning to Myanmar. The Thailand-Myanmar migration corridor is the largest in Asia and a large percentage of the population of Myanmar (10 per cent) migrate for work.<sup>183</sup>

The Myanmar Ministry of Health and Sport has constructed quarantine facilities along the border and there have been reports of substandard living conditions and overcrowding; inadequate WASH facilities, which lack of dignity for women and girls; and child protection issues.<sup>184</sup> Closures and restrictions on the Thailand-Myanmar border have also affected refugees, through extensive delays, family separation and disrupting their ability to seek appropriate support and protection.<sup>185</sup> Government restrictions have affected the provision of services, limiting access to health and humanitarian workers, and exacerbating the multiple gender-based barriers faced by refugee women such as exclusion, discrimination and GBV.<sup>186</sup>

### Health

Barriers to accessing healthcare can be compounded by multiple or intersecting inequalities, such as gender, ethnicity, socio-economic status, disability, age, race, geographic location and sexual orientation.<sup>187</sup> In April, more women (24 per cent) than men (17 per cent) reported being unable to access medical care when they needed in Cambodia, with similar gender gaps reported also in Thailand.<sup>188</sup>

In Lao PDR, around half of the interviewees reported reduced accessibility and less people using health care services. The primary reason for this was the fear of contracting the virus and a loss of trust in the healthcare system (reported by both men and women);

### "people do not go to the hospital because they are afraid of infection, as there are many people in the hospital and they do not know who is carrying the virus or being infected."

Other reasons included that it was not seen as safe for women and girls to travel to the healthcare facilities, as well as the impacts of quarantine and social isolation measures.

In Lao PDR, there is significant discrimination against ethnic minorities living in the Northern Uplands which prevents many from receiving or even seeking healthcare. Many do not speak or understand the Lao language, particularly women, girls and the elderly, which is a barrier to accessing COVID-19 health information, and understanding prevention and treatment measures.<sup>189</sup> Respondents told CARE that, there are difficulties as people "*do not know and cannot answer some information in Lao (and so they) have no [health] information.*"<sup>190</sup>

Language barriers also exist in accessing health care in Rakhine, Shan and Kachin states in Myanmar. Populations in areas affected by conflict rarely accept to be referred to governmental health facilities because of an existing lack of trust and confidentiality.<sup>191</sup> Additionally, the lack of freedom of movement, and access to healthcare for some communities in Rakhine State has the potential to further hamper any response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In Viet Nam, respondents noted that people in both urban and rural areas can access health care services with few barriers, but again, the main issue being people's concerns over fear of contracting the virus. "One woman in the village had [a] catastrophe but did not dare to go to the hospital; another has joint pain that need to take medicine periodically, but in this situation, she could not go to the hospital to get medicine so she need to live with the pain." - Commune Women Union representative in Bac Kan."

Key informants in Myanmar reported local clinics closing, and some mobile health services suspending their operations as a result of the pandemic. Closures are disproportionately affecting women and girls, who are more likely to have additional restrictions on their movements imposed by their families. Service closures have greater impacts in rural areas, where there are fewer facilities available. Even when alternatives are accessible, there may be cultural, language, psychological, discriminatory and practical barriers to accessing a new service, particularly if it is in a different area, or the individual is from a vulnerable group.

Migrant workers may not seek medical support due to a lack of access to health services, cost, and fear of repercussions, such as deportation if they are undocumented. Research conducted by the Raks Thai foundation found that migrant women, especially those without documentation, rely heavily on NGO staff for procuring medication and referrals to health services, especially for chronic diseases such as Tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS.<sup>192</sup> Respondents highlighted concerns, particularly for pregnant undocumented migrant women, in their access to healthcare, including reproductive health during the pandemic due to a lack of legal documentation. In addition, women who experience GBV may not be able to access essential health and support services.<sup>193</sup> Migrant workers with pre-existing health conditions also face further challenges in accessing health services, and in some instances are more vulnerable to COVID-19. Many migrant workers also live in dormitories with poor conditions, which enhance the transmission of the disease, putting them at an additional risk.<sup>194</sup>

Smoking has been identified as a possible risk factor for COVID-19.<sup>195</sup> Adult men in Asia-Pacific are eight times more likely than women to be smokers.<sup>196</sup> The highest rates for smoking amongst men are in Lao PDR, with 57 per cent of men smoking, and lowest in Myanmar with 32 per cent of men smoking.<sup>197</sup> Men may exhibit less health seeking behaviour as a result of rigid gender norms, wanting to be viewed as tough rather than weak, potentially resulting in a delay in detection and access to treatment for the virus. Additionally, stereotypical masculine norms that encourage risk-taking may also negatively impact the uptake of recommended prevention measures, such as social distancing and mask wearing. These social factors may place men at a higher risk of contracting COVID-19 and also of facing complications.

### Mental health, stress and anxiety

Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, anxiety affected 60 million people in Southeast Asia alone, with close to 86 million living with depression. The impact of COVID-19 on populations' mental health living in the Mekong countries is still emerging, however early evidence from Thailand points to increasing mental health issues as a result of economic distress.<sup>198</sup> Rapid impact surveys have also indicated that in Thailand, more women (84 per cent) than men (79 per cent) reported that their mental health is affected by the pandemic.<sup>199</sup> Gender differences occur particularly in the rates of common mental disorders – depression, anxiety and somatic complaints. These disorders, in which women predominate, affect approximately one in three people in the community and constitute a serious public health problem.<sup>200</sup>

All respondents interviewed in Cambodia reported an increased level of stress and anxiety due to loss of income, social distancing and movement restrictions. Reasons were varied but included: concerns over the closure of schools, children's vulnerability to infection, loss of jobs and income; including the expectations placed on men to earn money for the family.<sup>201</sup>

### "It really affects the mental health because usually we go back home with the warm welcome from our family and relatives, but now it is different because of the social distancing. People avoid me and my husband. The stress level is also increasing because of the increase in price of food and water. We also have a lot of fear of going out and are always wearing masks" - Migrant worker, Cambodia

In Lao PDR, the main concerns for men included fears of becoming infected, followed by financial stress as a result of reduced or loss of employment or income. For women, key concerns included the mental health impacts of the pandemic (e.g. stress and fear) as well as the risk of infection to their families (e.g. husband and children) and of themselves. Women also had concerns regarding the impact of COVID-19 on pregnancy (e.g. risk of infection, health of the baby, access to healthcare); family finances (reduced or loss of employment or income); increased unpaid labour (housework, childcare) and the impact the pandemic would have on children (e.g. schooling). Overall a smaller number of men compared to women stated that they had no worries or concerns related to the pandemic.<sup>202</sup> The overall availability of mental health services appeared to vary between the provinces in Lao PDR.

For migrant workers in Thailand, fear of being infected with COVID-19 is the most common concern and source of stress. Concerns about family wellbeing were found to be the main source of stress among housewives and married women. Those who are pregnant or have small children were especially stressed about their children's vulnerability to COVID-19. Meanwhile, male respondents were more concerned about work-related issues and rarely mentioned household challenges.<sup>203</sup>

Sex workers routinely face discrimination by healthcare providers, which can be a barrier to accessing healthcare. One sex worker in Mandalay explained that she used to receive her antiretroviral treatment at an NGO-run drop-in centre (specialised in providing HIV related care to female sex workers), but now had to go to the General Hospital to receive the treatment. Although the treatment was still available to her, she emphasised that it was much more difficult to go somewhere she did not have a pre-existing relationship with the healthcare provider.

A survey by the Asia-Pacific Transgender Network has noted that 43.2 per cent of respondents reported no or limited access to gender-affirming health services, compounding the existing social violence and stigma faced by transgender persons.<sup>204</sup>

### Sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR)

Provision of sexual and reproductive health services, including family planning and menstrual health, are central to women and girls' health, empowerment and dignity, and may be impacted as health services and supply chains are strained from the COVID-19 response.<sup>205</sup> Evidence from past epidemics, such as Ebola and Zika, demonstrate that efforts to contain outbreaks often divert resources from routine health services and exacerbate the often already limited availability of sexual and reproductive health services.<sup>206</sup> There are also increased risks for pregnant women in quarantine or self-isolation who may not be able to access healthcare. This is of particular concern as maternal mortality is still one of the leading causes of death for women aged 15 to 49 in some Mekong countries, such as Cambodia.<sup>207</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to disruptions in supply chains across sectors regionally, nationally and globally, including essential medical supplies and contraceptives. With many contraceptives manufactured in the region and factory closures and migrant workers being sent back to their homes, these emerging issues will have large implications on the availability of these important resources.<sup>208</sup> This, along with disruption to family planning services and a reluctance to attend health centres for fear of contracting COVID-19, is likely to limit women's control over their own fertility. Several key informants expressed concerns that the crisis would lead to an increase in unwanted pregnancies.<sup>209</sup>

Before the pandemic there were significant unmet needs with 23 per cent of women in Lao PDR reporting difficulties accessing sexual, reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health (SRMNCH) services, particularly for young women aged 15-19.<sup>210</sup> During the pandemic, mixed responses were noted in regards to increased difficulties to access SRMNCH services and less women and girls able to use such services. Lockdown measures and fear of infection were the largest barriers: *"less people go to hospital* 

[for SRMNCH services] because we are afraid of getting infected so we don't go to hospital if not necessary."<sup>211</sup> Even in areas where services continued, there remains a fear of contracting the virus from a health facility, which saw a reduction in people attending the facilities. However, despite the reluctance of patients, an increase in information and provisions at health facilities around COVID-19 has also enabled some services to continue operating through the crisis.<sup>212</sup>

Decision-making power and access to transport also impact women's access to SRMNCH services. In only two out of the 62 households interviewed in Lao PDR, did decisions on family planning lie with women. Decisions around healthcare in Lao PDR followed a similar pattern although women were more active in decision-making. Men also tend to control family transportation and therefore the wife is reliant on her husband to take her to healthcare facilities.<sup>213</sup>

### Food security and nutrition

Since COVID-19, difficulties in accessing food during the COVID-19 pandemic were repeatedly raised during interviews conducted by CARE – particularly for families with lower socio-economic resources; "we are facing money problems and we do not have enough food" "we need more dry food during times when we cannot go out or are under home quarantine". A primary reason for insufficient food supplies was reduced income or the diversion of income to purchase hygiene-related products. Some families reported selling assets and resources to buy food for their family. Monitoring and reducing food intake was noted as a coping mechanism by respondents in Lao PDR, "planning and reducing the amount of food we are consuming, reducing expenses, reducing resources we are using and reducing the amount of electricity we are using". Furthermore, women also face cultural barriers to equal food access relative to men in the community e.g. in the Mekong ethnic community, women are not permitted to eat with their in-laws and must eat on a separate table, and in the Katang community, pregnant daughters-in-law are not allowed to join the family meal (although these practices are changing).<sup>214</sup>

In Cambodia, some respondents reported that they have already used savings and had to sell items to buy food and necessary supplies. Further, since they can no longer afford food from the markets they need to search for wild foods, such as mushrooms, in the forest.<sup>215</sup> Loss of income and food insecurity was also raised by respondents in Thailand and Myanmar.<sup>216</sup>,<sup>217</sup>

In Viet Nam, access to food and essential items was seen as a big concern among the poor, and also among those facing job losses and reduced income, such as informal sector workers and factory workers. Due to traditional gender roles and responsibilities, women are more likely to bear the brunt of the increased pressures around household food security. Urban poor women and migrant workers are more likely to suffer from the burden of finding alternative sources of food to reduce family expenses.<sup>218</sup>

### People with disabilities

People with disabilities in the Asia-Pacific have two to three times less access to sexual and reproductive health services. People with disabilities also face greater barriers to employment, with those in Asia-Pacific being two to six times less likely to be employed and, if employed, often considered more expendable. Women and girls with disabilities, in particular, in the Mekong, experience multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, increasing particular vulnerabilities and risks in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In Cambodia, services for people with disabilities are very limited, and even more so in areas outside of large cities. People with disabilities rely on community-based social services or specialised services to meet basic daily needs such as meals and hygiene services. Due to fear around transmission and lack of personal protective equipment (PPE), disability rights groups are concerned that these services may be interrupted.<sup>219</sup> Further concerns relate to the need for physical support and mobility, which contravene the requirement for social distancing. These barriers contribute to an avoidance of or reduction in access to health services by people with disabilities.<sup>220</sup> This may increase the support required from family members or carers at home, usually women.

People with disabilities in the Mekong region have higher rates of poverty and more precarious forms of employment, often without social protection. In Cambodia, the closure of massage services and bars has

highlighted impacts on income opportunities for people with disabilities, with one respondent reporting that they can no longer find places to sing on street corners for money (busking).<sup>221</sup> Hence, as well as increased restricted mobility from lockdown measures, the economic insecurity experienced by many people with disabilities may be worsened during the pandemic, which also impacts their ability to access basic services.

People with disabilities related to mobility limitations face a range of other barriers in relation to the pandemic, including an inability to abide by prevention guidelines related to regular handwashing, and people with disabilities relating to visual impairments face challenges in their inability to touch things safely in order to perceive them.<sup>222</sup> If caregivers or family members are quarantined as a result of COVID-19, people with disabilities may no longer receive the support or care needed.<sup>223</sup> There is a lack of recognition of people with disabilities in emergency response and development plans, with emergency shelters often not accessible to those with physical disabilities.<sup>224</sup> Quarantine facilities may not be inclusive of, or able to cater to, the needs of people with mental and/or physical disabilities<sup>225</sup> and people with disabilities are less likely to be prioritised in prevention and treatment measures.<sup>226</sup>

In addition, women with disabilities face gender-related barriers, such as increased rates of gender-based and sexual violence. In Lao PDR, respondents spoke of the difficulties faced by women with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, including increased stress on their mental health, fear of contracting the coronavirus and the possibility of more severe symptoms due to underlying health conditions, barriers to accessing services and difficulties travelling. Respondents noted that women with disabilities can face additional stressors if their families are not able to support them. They may also face hostility from family members or discrimination from the broader community.<sup>227</sup>

### Access to information and technology

Public health messaging has been a key COVID-19 prevention strategy across the Mekong region.<sup>228</sup> In Cambodia, it was noted that healthcare staff cooperate with local authorities and volunteer groups in the community to visit households and provide health information; particularly those who are at greater risk of not receiving enough information such as: the elderly, the poor, and people with disabilities.<sup>229</sup>

The dissemination of public health information has relied heavily on the internet and the media. Whilst internet access has expanded rapidly across the Mekong region, there are still inequities in access, particularly for women, people with disabilities and people living in remote communities. There have been reports that the 'digital gender divide' in Asia-Pacific is growing, in part due to the increase in e-commerce.<sup>230</sup> In Myanmar, women are 28 per cent less likely than men to own a mobile phone.<sup>231</sup> In Lao PDR, women are less likely to read the newspaper on a weekly basis (women 7.2 per cent; men 8.6 per cent), listen to the radio (women 17.4 per cent; men 23.4 per cent), watch TV (women 76.5 per cent; men 83.3 per cent), own a mobile phone (women 73.1 per cent; men 84.3 per cent) or to have used a computer in the last three months (women 8.5 per cent; men 12.5 per cent).<sup>232</sup>

Respondents in Lao PDR noted two main challenges to women's access to information was illiteracy and, for ethnic minority women, a limited understanding of the Lao language. Other challenges included: information being presented in a manner that was not understood, not having direct access to information or knowing how to obtain information (due to lower levels of participation in the public sphere). While all respondents (men and women) stated that they personally were able to access information, they note that broadly:

#### "women do not have time to follow the news, but men are able to get information because they have time to watch television, use their mobiles and interact with others online", and "Men receive information faster than women, as men can access social media and meet with friends more often."<sup>233</sup>

Similarly, in Viet Nam, while COVID-19 information has been communicated in local languages in some ethnic minority areas,<sup>234</sup> this is not always the case, which has resulted in limited access to timely information for ethnic minority communities, especially the women and the elderly. The most popular information source among ethnic minority people, workers and migrants was the internet. Other channels

included posters, loudspeakers in villages and factories, mobile loudspeakers, television and local police. "I mainly see information online, posters at the gate, parking lot, canteen and in production areas, also loudspeaker play the Ghen Covy song during the short- breaks and lunch time" - Female garment worker in Thai Nguyen.

There were positive examples highlighted by respondents in Lao PDR who noted that, in some provinces, COVID-19 information had been translated to local languages, presented in short and easy to understand formats, and presented pictorially. Training has also been conducted for the community with information being presented in a variety of mediums e.g. through village volunteers, radio, social media and news boards.

In Northern Shan State in Myanmar, the government has conducted awareness raising sessions with communities, but only in Burmese and English and has yet to make these available in Palaung language or other minority languages.<sup>235</sup>

Internally displaced persons (IDPs) are at heightened risk due to a lack of access to information and technology. For example, a government lockdown of internet and mobile phone services in Rakhine State, Myanmar, has limited access for displaced and non-displaced populations to vital preventive health, hygiene and protection information, while high levels of malnutrition may make these populations more susceptible to the disease.<sup>236</sup>

Access to livelihood-related information differed based on occupation. For garment workers, cuts in employment and reduction in working hours tended to arrive without notice; lack of access to timely information regarding changes in the pandemic and its impacts on workers has exacerbated anxiety and insecurity for both men and women.

### "We absolutely understand the situation, but if the company shares with us openly, it will be better. We know that it is a common challenge for all but it is really annoying and unacceptable when the information of every single change comes to us very suddenly." - Male garment worker in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

Those working in forestry and agriculture rely heavily on agriculture product information. Even with travel restrictions, information regarding prices and product types was available on social media and television and some people joined cooperatives, which allowed them to access information.<sup>237</sup>

In Thailand, fishermen and their wives tended to have less access to information as many relied on their friends' mobile phone to communicate with their family and receive COVID-19 news. Whereas, a majority of male and female migrants in seafood processing seemed to own a mobile phone. The perception that all migrants have access to digital devices, internet and social media may be misleading. An undocumented female migrant from Samut Sakon who had three children revealed that she knew about COVID-19 from Facebook but she did not own a mobile phone. Instead, she received information from her neighbour's mobile phone. Female migrants, who are undocumented, in particular may have limited access to COVID-19 information, as Thai law requires all mobile phone owners to provide valid identification.

### Education

Countries across the Mekong region implemented school closures as a prevention measure against COVID-19. The Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport in Cambodia, appealed to parents of students to provide home education in a proper environment and support access to learning materials during the pandemic. On March 13, 2020, the Ministry launched an e-learning programme where students can study free of charge, on social media, Facebook, YouTube and the Ministry's website.<sup>238</sup> However this situation risks increasing the gender gap in education. Girls may be expected, due to gender norms and roles, to devote more time than boys to unpaid work such as caring for younger siblings, older family members, and those who are ill within the household, rather than focusing on education.<sup>239</sup>

A digital gender divide is anticipated when families have limited devices or money for internet access and priority will be given to boys, with girls assigned to take on more domestic tasks.<sup>240</sup> It has been reported in Cambodia that only 20 per cent of all students have online access.<sup>241</sup> There is a particularly high risk that poor families without digital devices will be unable to provide their children access to e-learning modules and they will be excluded from education. Lack of access to education can have long-term impacts with regards to livelihood opportunities, decision-making power, income and age of marriage; with education being a protective measure against early marriage and early pregnancy.<sup>242</sup>

Similar concerns are noted in Lao PDR; students from poorer or rural communities who lack computers, smart phones, internet and electricity have not been able to keep up with their education as it has moved online.<sup>243</sup> This has exacerbated the urban/rural divide in education which was already significant prepandemic (28.5 per cent of children from rural communities and 64 per cent of children from an urban background attending secondary school).<sup>244</sup> Girls from rural, poor and minority ethnic communities are the most vulnerable to not being able to attend and complete school due to a variety of social, cultural barriers, gendered roles within the home, cultural practices (such as child marriage) and limitations on mobility due to safety concerns.

Respondents to the Rapid Gender Analysis raised concerns that families who are struggling financially, may not be able to afford to send girl children back to school or may prioritise the education of boy children if family resources are limited.<sup>245</sup> Active measures to address the gender gaps that prevent girls from accessing online learning is crucial e.g. UNICEF Viet Nam has supported the Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) on an inclusive distance learning strategy focused on ethnic minority groups, with a focus on equitable access for girls, providing tablets and WIFI access to support their education.<sup>246</sup>

### **Social protection**

Social protection can be critical during the COVID pandemic, as illness, job reduction or losses, and economic downturn can drive many into poverty or further poverty. Social protection systems vary across the Mekong region. While some countries offer limited social protection, such as Cambodia and Lao PDR, others have emerging or established protection systems, such as Thailand and Viet Nam.<sup>247</sup> Viet Nam, in particular, has invested more in its social protection system compared to other countries in the region.<sup>248</sup>

In Myanmar, the government has provided support through in-kind food transfers to at-risk households, top-ups of social pensions for three months, and cash transfers to vulnerable populations, including IDPs, through mobile banking services.<sup>249</sup> Through European Union funding in Myanmar, garment factory workers who have lost their jobs will also be given emergency cash funds for three months, at K75,000 per month.<sup>250</sup> In Cambodia, the government has provided a social fund of US\$70 per month<sup>251</sup> for garment factory workers who have lost employment, with US\$40 from the government and US\$30 paid by the factory.<sup>252</sup> However, workers are yet to receive payments as garment factories struggle with decreased profitability given decrease demands.<sup>253</sup>

Despite these measures, established social protection systems and emergency financial support may not reach the most vulnerable and those in need<sup>254</sup> such as rural communities, urban slum-dwellers, those in the informal economy, people with disabilities, women, children and other vulnerable groups. Informal migrant workers, for example, are among the most vulnerable in the region since many are not covered by government benefits or reached by emergency support packages.<sup>255</sup> In Viet Nam, the government passed Resolution No. 42/NQ-CP ("Resolution 42"), on 9 April 2020, to support people facing difficulties due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, there is no specific criteria targeting vulnerable women and concerns that some of those most at risk in society will not be able to access support e.g. female heads of household from rural or ethnic minority areas and urban migrant women in informal employment. For this, as well as other social protection programmes, being an unregistered migrant poses a barrier to eligibility for support, an issue raised by informal female workers in the Rapid Gender Analysis.<sup>256</sup>

Women migrant workers may also face increased difficulties accessing social protection due to travel and movement restrictions during the pandemic, as well as stigma around the perceived risk of virus transmission.<sup>257</sup> This adds to the existing barriers faced by women migrant workers in accessing routine healthcare services, including those for sexual and reproductive health. With regards to COVID-19, they

may face high costs of testing and treatment, as well as difficulty reaching diagnostic and service locations.<sup>258</sup> Without sickness benefits, many informal migrant workers cannot afford to stop working even when ill, which will likely exacerbate their medical condition and increase transmission to others. Without social protection, many families and individuals, and in particular women, will face significant challenges in weathering this pandemic.<sup>259</sup>

In some cases, such as in Viet Nam, government loans are available for the poor, however while all women interviewed as part of this assessment said that the conditions and procedures for a government loan were not a barrier to access, many were too concerned about meeting interest repayments to borrow money.<sup>260</sup>

### Safety and protection

### Gender based violence

Globally, violence against women and girls is increasing with the COVID-19 pandemic, linked to economic and social stresses, and measures to restrict social contact and movement. Crowded homes, substance abuse, limited access to services and reduced peer support are exacerbating these conditions.<sup>261</sup> Historically, past financial downturns in the Mekong region have resulted in increased domestic violence. For example, after the 1997/98 Asian Financial Crisis, there was an increased rate of domestic violence in Thailand related to the heightened economic stressors experienced within families and across communities.<sup>262</sup> In addition, experience has demonstrated that where women are primarily responsible for procuring and cooking food for the family, increased food insecurity, as a result of the crises, place them at greater risk of intimate partner and family violence.<sup>263</sup>

With women often holding more precarious employment, such as part-time or casual work, women who lose their income will also become more financially dependent on their partners, making it even more difficult to leave unsafe environments.<sup>264</sup> <sup>265</sup> Alcohol consumption was linked to violence in the home in Viet Nam<sup>266</sup> and Cambodia, by almost all key informant respondents. In interviews, factory workers stated that the additional stress from losing their job, financial insecurity, travel restrictions and closing of schools can lead to discussions which end in violence in the family. One woman said that she feels annoyed that her husband does not practice social distancing and the recommended hygiene practices in the house; but when she complains, her husband becomes upset.<sup>267</sup>

In Lao PDR, anecdotal reports have indicated that tensions within households related to an increase in household work, financial pressure, stress and fear from infection may have an impact on contributing to increased cases of GBV. While the Lao Women's Union (LWU) with support from United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) in May 2020, launched a hotline to provide Psychosocial Support Services (PSS) to the community, with the target being women who are experiencing violence, few interviewees were aware of support systems for GBV survivors; with most stating that cases can be solved within the family, with assistance from the village chief, or with the Village Mediation Unit (VMU).

According to recent data from Peace House Shelter<sup>268</sup>, in Viet Nam, the number of women who came to the service doubled compared to the same period last year.<sup>269</sup> According to Center for Studies and Applied Sciences in Gender Women and Adolescent (CSAGA), in the first four months of 2020, there were 624 cases reported to the CSAGA service, which was an increase of 208 cases compared to the last four months of 2019. Psychological violence, in particular, has increased dramatically since the pandemic. Some perpetrators use social distancing as a way to exercise their power to prevent survivors from seeking help. Cases from CSAGA confirmed that social distancing increases tensions, with some couples facing difficulties isolating at home.<sup>270</sup>

Some women face multiple intersecting disadvantages, such as women with a disability or migrant women, and are at a particularly heightened risk of GBV during the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, a gender analysis on GBV in Thailand found that migrant women tend to tolerate violence due to their economic dependence, reduced ability to negotiate safe sex, and lack of access to support services. The pandemic is likely to increase migrant women's risk of abuse, especially sexual violence, and infectious

diseases such as HIV.<sup>271</sup> Across the Mekong region, LGBTQI+ activists and organisations have also highlighted increased concerns about domestic violence, compounded especially in countries where there are no legal protections for LGBTQI+ people. In Myanmar, NGO Equality Myanmar has highlighted increases in domestic violence and the harassment of LGBTQI+ people.<sup>272</sup>

In the Mekong region, life-saving care and support to GBV survivors may also be disrupted when frontline service providers and systems, such as health, policing and social welfare, are overburdened and preoccupied with handling COVID-19 cases. In addition, having law enforcement and security forces on the streets in some countries to enforce lockdown measures and monitor the movement of people can lead to higher levels of sexual harassment and other forms of violence in public spaces.<sup>273</sup>

In Viet Nam, two GBV services currently supporting survivors (CSAGA and Hagar) were consulted during the Rapid Gender Analysis process. Both had made changes to adapt to social-distancing measures, movement restrictions and the specific needs of survivors in this new context, through mobile hotlines and online support which is being used instead of face to face modalities. While these are very positive steps, further adaptations will be needed to ensure services reach ethnic minorities, informal sector workers and other vulnerable groups.<sup>274</sup> It is not clear from the data available whether physical distancing and quarantine measures have impacted shelters, however it has been noted that there is a risk, shelters could be closed as a virus prevention measure, or diverted to quarantine centres leaving women without safe accommodation and essential services.<sup>275</sup>

One barrier to accessing GBV services highlighted in Myanmar, (even pre-COVID-19), is the low public awareness of the existence of hotlines.<sup>276</sup> This issue is likely to be compounded in the context of COVID-19, with many outreach and awareness-raising activities being suspended due to movement and social distancing restrictions.<sup>277</sup> One woman with a disability who works for an advocacy organisation for people with disabilities emphasised the difficulties posed by the information barrier for people with disabilities: *"Differently abled people could not access the WASH, SRHR and GBV services as they could not get any information related to those services. Most of the differently abled people are poor and do not have a mobile phone and TV so it is very difficult to get the information regarding services. Reporting incidents to local authorities or police, they were asked to give identifying details of the perpetrators. These requests are not sensitive to the situation of survivors with visual impairments, who have difficulty supplying such information.<sup>278</sup>* 

In Myanmar, key informants indicated that GBV case management services and safe houses are generally open, with adapted services and some limitations. Some organisations are operating phone hotlines, which allow survivors to seek support even if they cannot travel due to movement restrictions. However, respondents noted there are still barriers to access, especially for the most vulnerable. The combination of movement restrictions and widespread job suspensions/losses has meant many men and women are home together 24 hours, leaving few opportunities for women to make phone calls undetected. One staff member of a legal organisation in Yangon explained:

### "Because of stay at home [orders], some women faced domestic violence. When they called and asked for help, we cannot discuss openly because their husbands were at home. Sometimes, when we called them, they said 'wrong number' because their husbands are around. Then, they called us back when their husbands are not around."

Women have developed a range of coping mechanisms to address GBV. For example, a report on 'Violence Against Women and their Resilience in Myanmar' outlines the range of coping strategies normally employed by women and girls, such as women talking to their friends and family about abuse and reporting the abuse to authorities or legal counsellors.<sup>279</sup> Under COVID-19 social distancing and lockdowns, it is more challenging for these coping strategies to be used by women who are experiencing violence.

### Stigma and discrimination

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated prejudices or tensions against ethnic or marginalised communities. Existing discrimination against minority ethnic or religious groups may be intensified as they are perceived to be spreading the virus.<sup>280</sup> Cambodia's ethnic and religious minorities have become targets of online abuse after being singled out in the government's reporting on COVID-19. Much of the backlash has focused on the Cham ethnic minority, who make up the majority of Cambodia's 300,000 Muslims.<sup>281</sup> As an example, local authorities reported that there had been a Muslim man from Malaysia who stayed in a community close to a market, for a few days in early April 2020. Afraid that the man might be COVID-19 positive, locals stopped purchasing from Muslim meat vendors in the market. However, in the end, the Muslim man tested negative for the virus.

Key informants in Cambodia observed discrimination of urban people and migrant workers when they returned to their hometowns since they were suspected to be carrying the virus to the villages:

### "People do not want to talk much with us because we travelled from Phnom Penh and they think we are bringing risk to them."<sup>282</sup>

In Lao PDR, returnee migrant workers reported that since returning to their hometowns, they have been met with fear and hostility "Some people said that we have COVID-19. When we went out to buy food, they didn't want to sell it to us. The villagers ignore us. We are so nervous and keep thinking about COVID-19 because we came from a risky location."<sup>283</sup>

Key informants in Myanmar reported that returning migrant workers were most likely to face COVID-19 stigma, and this extended to the families and communities of returning workers. There were some reports of returning migrant workers being prohibited from re-entering their home community, even after having completed quarantine procedures, due to fear and mistrust. One key informant mentioned this also applied to internal migrants in some areas, with some rural villages not allowing workers to return from Yangon.<sup>284</sup> Furthermore, health workers in Myanmar also spoke of experiencing stigma and discrimination, however they noted that this was decreasing as the pandemic continues and initial panic subsides.

### Sexual exploitation and abuse

An economic downturn can result in a spike in <u>sexual exploitation and abuse</u>, where at-risk groups that are struggling financially may be forced or coerced into providing sex in exchange for food.<sup>285</sup> Among those at increased risk are women (including single women living in poverty and widows), children, adolescent girls, sex workers, LGBTQI+ populations, and disabled men and women. Emerging evidence suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic has the potential to further increase risks of sexual exploitation and violence.<sup>286</sup>

Children face additional protection risks. Several global anti-trafficking organisations have already noted a worldwide rise in child marriage, trafficking and forced labour, as families try to struggle to survive. In some settings, families may see these marriages as a way to relieve financial stress, provide a better life for their daughters, or to keep them safe in an unstable environment.<sup>287</sup> Unfortunately, early and forced marriage increases the risk of domestic and sexual violence, and disrupts girls' education, and economic prospects.<sup>288</sup> Whilst no data for the Mekong region has been collected on the impact of COVID-19 on child marriage, this is a significant concern for a region with comparatively high child marriage rates. The percentage of women aged 20 to 24 who were married or in a union before 18 ranges from 35.4 per cent in Lao PDR to 11 per cent in Viet Nam.<sup>289</sup>

People traffickers are also known to target communities affected by crisis, conflict or natural disasters, especially women and children.<sup>290</sup> Economic stress and lockdown measures may also lead to increased abuse and violence against trafficking victims, particularly those trafficked into prostitution or domestic servitude. Restricted in their ability to earn money during the COVID-19 pandemic, victims of sex trafficking are particularly vulnerable. These risks are exacerbated by limited social support services, shelter closures, and restricted access to medical facilities and care. Most victims of human trafficking detected across the world are women; mainly adult women, but increasingly (as seen in the Mekong

region) child victims, especially girls.<sup>291</sup> The vast majority of detected victims of trafficking for sexual exploitation are female.<sup>292</sup>

Risks of online sexual harassment and exploitation have also increased as physical public spaces are closed and people go online for support and social connection. This has already been identified, by Cambodian civil society groups working in GBV prevention and responses, as a possible risk for women and girls that needs to be mitigated.<sup>293</sup>

### Human rights and Women, Peace and Security (WPS)

In the Mekong region, the response strategies to the COVID-19 pandemic by governments could give rise to, or further intensify, human rights abuses, including abuses of women's rights. Despite differences in political ideology and government structures, all countries reviewed in this Rapid Gender Analysis have current, or have had in the recent past, allegations of human rights violations and aspects of authoritarian rule. Although an increase in government authority may be needed to impose measures sufficient to control the spread of the virus, such as restrictions in mobility and greater surveillance, these must be proportionate to the impingement on human rights (including women's rights).

For example, in Cambodia, a state of emergency law passed by parliament has granted the government broad powers of unlimited surveillance of telecommunications, control of the press and social media, restricting freedom of movement and assembly, seizing private property, and authority to enact "other measures that are deemed appropriate".<sup>294</sup>

Human Rights Watch has reported a renewed crackdown on opposition supporters and government critics, including arbitrary arrests and detention of opposition party members and journalists.<sup>295</sup> Similarly accusations of violations of freedom of speech and information have also been made in Thailand where the government's 'fake news centre' has led to censorships and arrests, and in Viet Nam which has questioned, fined and arrested citizens, including celebrities, over social media posts on COVID-19<sup>296</sup> and has pressured Facebook to restrict certain content.<sup>297</sup>

Other aspects of state of emergency powers enacted across the Mekong region, such as border closures, military checkpoints, lockdowns and restrictions on movement, also have human rights implications, including on women's human rights. The gendered nature of these measures, enacted by maledominated governments, military and security forces, heightens the exclusion of women from decisionmaking structures and processes for the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>298</sup> For example, women's representation in the police forces varies across the Mekong region, from 8 per cent in Thailand<sup>299</sup> to 20 per cent in Myanmar.<sup>300</sup>

With such significant curtailing of freedoms being developed and enforced primarily by men, the implementation of these measures are, at best, not sensitive to women's needs or rights and, at worst, harmful to women. For example, restrictions in movement, such as quarantine centres set up at borders, do not cater to women's needs (e.g. WASH, safety), and may even perpetrate further harm (e.g. GBV, sexual exploitation and abuse). Women from marginalised groups are especially exposed, with female sex workers in Myanmar reporting that abuse and violence from the police was common.<sup>301</sup>

There has also been a tendency to 'militarise' the language used to address the pandemic as a "war against an invisible enemy", further masculinising the rhetoric and response to COVID-19.<sup>302</sup> Within the militarised context of the COVID-19 response, the four pillars of the Women, Peace and Security (WPS) Agenda (participation, protection, prevention, and relief and recovery) can offer guidance. Drawing on the WPS pillars, UN Women has called on all actors responding to the COVID-19 pandemic in Asia-Pacific to: Ensure women's full and equal participation in leadership and decision-making roles related to COVID-19; for responses to the pandemic that are driven by the security sector to be proportionate and gendersensitive; to support women's civil society to monitor and document security sector actions, access to justice, governance, transparency and accountability; for women to lead social cohesion measures including countering discrimination and hate speech; and to include women's socio-economic needs and priorities in recovery measures.<sup>303</sup>

### Capacities and coping mechanisms

In Lao PDR, garment factory workers have been planning for alternative forms of work or income. This has included moving into other sectors (e.g. construction, food delivery), returning home and taking up previous forms of work (e.g. weaving, animal husbandry), and selling items online. For women, whose childcare responsibilities have increased, many have been unable to spend the time to find alternative forms of work. Some interviewees have had to take out loans to survive financially or have resorted to spending their savings.<sup>304</sup> Similar results were seen in Viet Nam, where garment workers have explored work in private sewing companies, and informal sector workers have tried selling bread and cakes. However, both female and male respondents noted these ventures resulted in little success.<sup>305</sup>

In Viet Nam, many people are changing the way they work. Ethnic minority sellers, retailers and street venders have been using available online resources such as Facebook and Zalo to advertise and sell their products. Informal and migrant workers have also made home-cooked food to sell online and offered alternative services such as delivery/ shipping services, or at-home hair cutting services:

"Now we have to switch to online selling, selling by phone, before the epidemic, we used to try this method [fan page] but not effective because buyers did not care, now given social distancing, more people ordered via fan page." - Head of a banana production cooperative in Bac Kan.;

#### "We have done many things, some people have made home-cooked cake and sell online. Some have sold fruit online, buying products from wholesale markets and reselling online." - Migrant female informal worker, in Da Lat.

However, these alternative ways of working rely on the seller having access to online marketplaces and or smartphones, which is less likely to be the case for women in the Mekong region, given the gender digital divide.

COVID-19 exacerbates the effects of natural disasters and infectious livestock diseases that in turn affect household savings and loans. Prior to the pandemic, ethnic minority farmers in Viet Nam had already faced crop failures and income reductions, due to frost, hail and a pig disease epidemic, which significantly decreased their savings and increased their loans. Thus, the COVID-19 crisis hit an already struggling sector, preventing recovery and pulling it more deeply into recession.<sup>306</sup>

Respondents in Viet Nam highlighted the importance of support from the extended family and strong community ties to ensure that when people fall during hard times they are picked up and looked after by others. During the time of social distancing measures and an economic downturn, this traditional social capital provides support, including through the sharing of food and information, and encouraging safe behaviour. Women who are likely to be responsible for feeding the family and looking out for the health and nutrition of family members benefit from these traditional support systems.

Respondents also noted, however, the need for external support, in addition to their own coping mechanisms from local and national authorities:

"We need support from the government for the local community to be able to survive during the lockdown, as we have no jobs".<sup>307</sup>

### Conclusions and recommendations

COVID-19 is unfolding in the Mekong region amid persistent gender inequalities that exist due to longstanding structural and discriminatory gender norms. This has led to differential experiences of COVID-19 (and its corresponding response) for women, men, girls and boys. The outbreak is impacting mental and physical health, food security, livelihoods and incomes, safety and protection.

The COVID-19 pandemic has seen a reinforcement of traditional gender roles, which has increased the burden of unpaid care and domestic labour on women and girls as family members fall ill, schools are

closed, or families isolate at home. This domestic work burden means less time available for paid work. Many women have also suffered job losses, particularly those in vulnerable employment, who struggle to find alternative sources of income.

Women and girls are heavily concentrated in industries that have been disproportionately affected by the economic downturn arising from the COVID-19 pandemic or sectors that increase their exposure to the virus, such as healthcare, the garment industry, entertainment and tourism, domestic work and sex work. This loss of income can have wider reaching impacts on women when decision-making power is linked to their financial contributions to the household. Women in the Mekong region are traditionally left out of public decision-making processes, national governments and in the leadership of trade unions. This is being mirrored within COVID-19 structures and mechanisms, meaning that the voices and needs of women and girls, particularly in at-risk populations, may not fully be addressed in humanitarian and government responses to the pandemic.

Additional barriers to accessing health services, including sexual and reproductive healthcare, are being reported by communities. This includes fear of contracting the virus, safety risks in travelling to services (particularly for women and girls), stigma and discrimination of populations such as female sex workers and LGBTQI+ individuals, as well as undocumented migrant workers. Concerns of children's access to online learning while schools have closed is exacerbated for lower income families and those without access to digital devices. Where families may not have sufficient resources for all children, concerns that priority is given to boys were expressed. Where girls may take on more household roles and responsibilities, this may have longer term impacts, such as girls involuntarily solidifying their imposed gender stereotypes and not returning to school as they reopen.

As in other parts of the world, factors such as stress, fear, alcohol and substance abuse, combined with isolation and quarantine measures are contributing to a rise in GBV. There is a need for prevention and response strategies to address GBV in the region. Access to support services is reduced as women are trapped at home with their perpetrators and for women who do not have access to technology, internet, and digital devices. These barriers are compounded for those who are illiterate and where service information is not disseminated in minority languages or for people with disabilities. Similar barriers are being seen with regards to access to wider COVID-19 messaging.

A variety of coping mechanisms are being implemented at an individual and family level, such as selling assets and using savings, particularly to mitigate the increasing food insecurity of households, of which the burden is heavily felt by women, whose perceived role is to ensure food security for the family. With policies, programmes and schemes being implemented by local and national authorities, however, it is clear that not everyone is able to access these equitably and therefore more needs to be done to ensure immediate economic and social support is provided to those most in need in order to bridge these gaps.

### Overarching recommendations

Country-specific analyses have been conducted across each country represented in this regional Rapid Gender Analysis and provide a current understanding of country-specific dimensions for gender, disability, age and at-risk populations. It is crucial these analyses are regularly updated as the crisis and response measures evolve, taking into account compounding secondary disasters, conflicts and/or disease outbreaks. Up-to-date gender analysis of the shifting gender dynamics within affected communities allows for more effective and appropriate programming and will ensure both humanitarian assistance and the preparedness, prevention and response to COVID-19 is tailored to the specific and different needs of women, men, boys, girls and at-risk groups. It is recommended that organisations continue to invest in gender analysis, including inter-agency, multi-sectoral gender analyses, that new reports are shared widely and that programming will be adapted to the changing needs.

### Recommendations for responding agencies:

Recommendation 1: Collect and ensure availability of sex and age disaggregated data, as well as data and information on people with disabilities and other at-risk groups. This should include

### rates of morbidity and mortality, differential economic impacts and care burden, access to health services (including SRH), education and technology,<sup>308</sup>

Given the differing impacts COVID-19 has on gender, there is a need to ensure gender, disability and inclusion data and information is available, analysed and actionable, across the region and at a countrylevel. It is important to collect data that is disaggregated by sex, age and disability (using Washington Group Questions) and, if possible, capture data on at-risk groups noted through this current analysis. This includes FHHs, pregnant and lactating women and people of diverse SOGIESC, migrant workers and other vulnerable populations such as undocumented migrants and daily wage workers. This should be conducted in close consultation and collaboration with the representative organisations of these groups.

Responses should be adapted accordingly, recognising how the country-specific social, culture and gender norms, roles, and relations influence vulnerability to infection, exposure, and treatment<sup>309</sup> for women, men, boys, girls, people with disabilities and other marginalised groups. Responses should not perpetuate harmful gender norms, discriminatory practices and inequalities.

### Recommendation 2: Ensure information, messaging and community outreach on COVID-19 is inclusive and accessible and does not reinforce harmful gender stereotypes.

Messaging should be designed and delivered in consultation with men, women, boys and girls and vulnerable groups among the target population. It should be available in local language/s, pictorial communication, and accessible for people with disabilities (taking into consideration, sight, hearing, and mobility barriers). Language and images of the messages should not reinforce gender division of labour, but promote the sharing of work and mutual support in a time of crisis.

The modalities used to disseminate information should consider the ways in which women and men, and specific groups access and receive communications, taking into consideration gender, age, literacy, language, location (urban/rural), migrant status, disability and socio-economic background. Messaging should address misinformation that could lead to the stigmatisation and discrimination of specific groups in the community, as we are seeing for migrant workers, minority groups, as well as to mitigate fears among the community regarding access to healthcare facilities and work to create trust in the health sector.

# Recommendation 3: Provide immediate emergency relief support to those most affected by COVID-19 and who are experiencing barriers to accessing social protection mechanisms. This includes a focus on those working in the informal economy (the majority of whom are women), informal migrant workers and sex workers (also the majority being women), people with disabilities, rural communities, urban slum-dwellers and FHHs.

Short and long-term interventions to address access to health (including SRH), protection, WASH, economic and livelihood support, must ensure the needs of those most at-risk are addressed. This includes the provision of food and hygiene items as well as exploring conditional or unconditional cash or voucher assistance. Further specific risk assessments should be conducted based on the context, to ensure a 'do no harm' approach and to mitigate risks of GBV.

Such immediate assistance will help with bridging the gaps and barriers to access for current government schemes and social protection initiatives, as well as addressing the needs of those who are experiencing barriers to accessing such initiatives e.g. undocumented migrant workers.

# Recommendation 4: Develop mitigation strategies that specifically target the economic impact of the outbreak on women and build women's economic resilience. A particular focus should be on those in sectors hit hardest by the pandemic including tourism, sex work, garment factories and those working in informal sectors.

Responding agencies need to: (i) consider the gender impacts of all economic support and recovery activities; (ii) develop targeted interventions for women and girls which address gender-based barriers and take into account the increased burden women and girls are facing with regards to unpaid domestic and caregiving roles, together with income generation (such as flexible working arrangements, work from home and support for childcare.)

Economic support and recovery activities should also be inclusive of, or specifically target, at-risk and vulnerable women and girls, such as women migrant workers, sex workers, ethnic minorities, or women with disabilities, who may not be included in mainstream economic recovery activities. All economic support and recovery strategies, plans and activities need to apply a gender lens in their design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation, including collecting sex (and age and disability) disaggregated data and monitoring unintended negative impacts on women and girls (e.g. 'family' benefits not reaching female family members; cash transfer programmes for women putting them at risk of GBV).

Programmes need to consider both women's immediate needs, as well as build women's longer-term economic empowerment and resilience. Funding for women's economic empowerment programmes that were being implemented before COVID-19 must continue and should be adjusted to meet the changing context of the pandemic.<sup>310</sup> It is important to work with communities who are already adapting to alternative modalities to support their livelihoods such as social media and online marketing and delivery services and to work with groups who have less or no access to these avenues.

## Recommendation 5: Ensure women with diverse backgrounds and from different socio-economic strata are given opportunities to meaningfully engage in the structures, measures and processes established for COVID-19.

Responding agencies should engage local women not just as recipients of support but as leaders in the response, facilitating their collective agency. A focus should be on marginalised women such as sex workers, migrant workers and garment factory workers. Women should be engaged in all aspects of the response (e.g. border control, safety, security), and not just in the traditional 'female' sectors (e.g. nursing, maternal health). Responding agencies should aim for equal representation of women working on all aspects of the response (including in decision-making, implementation and monitoring) as well as reaching out to women's organisations and female community leaders for consultation and response coordination.

Responding agencies should use existing gender analyses (such as this Rapid Gender Analysis) and seek the input of gender specialists at regional, national and local levels to inform decision-making and planning. The inclusion of women frontline workers in the health sector and other sectors (e.g. GBV) in all decision-making and policy spaces can improve COVID-19 prevention, detection and treatment, as well as address COVID-19 related impacts on GBV and other gender issues.<sup>311</sup> Responding agencies should engage with existing informal and formal women's rights organisations or networks to support their efforts as first responders. Funding (through flexible funding mechanisms) should be allocated to support women's organisations, women's networks and women's movements.

## Recommendation 6: Prioritise and strengthen services for prevention of and response to GBV and sexual and reproductive health services in communities affected by COVID-19, with an emphasis on mitigating barriers identified for specific groups in this report.

GBV referral services and response mechanisms will need to be resourced and strengthened to enable them to respond to the increased risk of GBV during COVID-19. The safe and continued provision of SRH and maternal health services should also be prioritised.

Funding should be ensured to continue existing services and not reallocated to other activities related to COVID-19. Service providers should be supported to adapt their responses from in-person to remote, with the provision of online help platforms, text message services and telephone help lines, and offered training in how to use this technology. The services available in COVID-19 affected areas should be regularly mapped, and updated information on how to access services in a constrained environment should be disseminated to local communities.

Co-ordination among service providers is crucial to ensure information is shared. Service providers should work with local partners to identify and fill gaps in service provision, such as for shelters, safe spaces, and in supporting marginalised groups such as the LGBTQI+ community, sex workers or trafficking victims who may be at heightened risk of GBV. All service providers (policy, social service and healthcare workers) should be adequately trained to respond in an effective, survivor-centred manner).

Responding agencies should also engage GBV service providers and women's or GBV-focused CSOs in developing COVID-19 response strategies, plans and activities (including building capacity around GBV

with military and police personnel and those working along the borders), as well as developing GBV risk mitigation strategies (including non-GBV focused activities, such as economic empowerment programmes, food assistance and community health messaging).

#### Recommendation 7: Prioritise mental health and psychosocial support services in communities.

It is clear that loss of income, fear of infection, restrictions on movement, and concerns for personal safety and well-being, as well as that of families and communities, is having a negative impact on the mental health of women, men, boys, girls and at-risk groups. This is being compounded by inadequate services, lack of knowledge of existing services, as well as fears of seeking support. Based on the results of this Rapid Gender Analysis, and the contributing country-focused analyses, there is an opportunity to map and identify gaps in current mental health services. Information on mental health support should be incorporated in community outreach and information initiatives, using a variety of modalities to ensure inclusive information dissemination. Prioritise the continuation of existing mental health and PSS services and ensure that essential resources are not diverted from these as a result of the pandemic.

### Recommendation 8: Ensure school closures, where they exist, do not further disadvantage girls or at-risk populations such as children with disabilities, ethnic minorities, and those from remote communities.

Interventions should ensure that online and remote learning opportunities are accessible to all girls and boys and are not determined based on socio-economic status, whether children are from urban or rural communities, or gender. Active measures to address the gender gaps that prevent girls from accessing online learning, such as access to digital devices or data, is crucial. Awareness raising on the importance of continuing education – particularly for girls – should be ensured as part of COVID-19 messaging to mitigate the potential for girls to take on household and caring responsibilities, to the detriment of their education.

## Recommendation 9: Prioritise services for prevention and response to human trafficking in communities affected by COVID-19 and provide capacity building to ensure services are gender responsive and inclusive, with a focus on vulnerable women and girls and at-risk groups.

It is essential that responses to COVID-19 address causal factors that might increase human trafficking, including economic stress, food insecurity, gender inequality, and gender norms that make women and children vulnerable to being subjected to sexual exploitation for the survival of them or their families. Responding agencies should aim to prevent further human trafficking (as dedicated interventions or as part of other interventions (e.g. economic recovery programmes). All programmes should have a GBV risk mitigation strategy which includes recognising the risk of human trafficking. Capacity building programmes should be in place for all responding agencies, service providers and protection services (e.g. police) so that all involved are made aware of, and are responsive to potential human trafficking activities and provide survivor-centred support to all trafficking victims, in their work on COVID-19.

#### Recommendations for regional and national Government bodies:

### Recommendation 10: Ensure all response strategies and measures to the COVID-19 pandemic respect human rights (with a focus on women and at-risk groups identified in this analysis).

The broadening of government powers and authorities, such as through 'state of emergency' declarations, need to be proportionate and need to respect and protect human rights. The implementation of all COVID-19 prevention strategies and measures, such as surveillance, lockdowns, quarantines, restriction of movement, and border closures, need to respect the human rights of all people, including women and other vulnerable groups (e.g. migrants, refugees, persons with disabilities) and must not enable human rights violations or abuses of power (such as sexual harassment, exploitation and abuse).

Responding agencies should support women's human rights defenders and human rights NGOs in their monitoring of national and local responses to the COVID-19 pandemic and help to support their rights to freedom of speech and information. Women's human rights experts should be consulted and involved in all stages of the COVID-19 response, including decision-making, implementation, monitoring and short-and long-term recovery. All COVID-19 response strategies need to adhere to international human rights

standards set out in treaties such as CEDAW, and should draw on the four pillars of the Women, Peace and Security agenda in the development and implementation of their responses.

### Recommendation 11: Ensure that border control procedures and quarantine facilities are established and maintained according to gender-responsive best practices.

With the increase in populations moving across borders in the Mekong region, mobility restrictions have had significant impacts on migrant workers, many of whom are women.<sup>312</sup> Quarantine facilities have been reported to be substandard, lacking dignified treatment of women and girls and raising child protection issues.<sup>313</sup> Border quarantine facilities should be cognisant of the different needs of women and children and should set up infrastructure and procedures accordingly. For example, there should be separate toilets for women and men, with lockable doors and lights to increase safety at night. Women should be given access to health and hygiene resources, such as sanitary products and gender-sensitive WASH facilities. Safe accommodation facilities should be established for women and children.

Coordination and decision-making bodies on migration and border facilities should be gender-balanced and should seek the input of gender experts in the design, implementation, maintenance and improvement of quarantine facilities and border control procedures. All facilities should employ a balance of male and female staff. All staff and volunteers at border quarantine facilities must be trained on the prevention of sexual harassment, exploitation and abuse obligations (PSHEA). PSHEA reporting mechanisms must be operational and appropriate for the local context.

# Recommendation 12: Ensure more comprehensive COVID-19 testing for more vulnerable and marginalised communities, especially in border areas, and inclusive approaches to contact tracing.

The Mekong region has limited access to testing equipment. If not monitored and controlled appropriately, infection is likely to re-emerge especially in vulnerable communities, such as in urban slums, migrant communities and rural communities. Gender-responsive measures, particularly in border areas and in atrisk communities, is essential. This should include targeted outreach to communities that have less access to certain technologies, such as the internet, as well as account for literacy levels and diversity in languages.

Men and women need to be equally educated on appropriate hygiene responses to ensure this responsibility does not fall to women. However, it is important to recognise women as a key resource in preventing the transmission of COVID-19 and opportunities should be provided for women to become community health leaders; to implement prevention measures and be engaged in efforts to identify cases of COVID-19.

### Recommendation 13: Countries in the Mekong region should ensure they are well coordinated and work together to ensure gender-responsive services are in place.

Given the similarities across the region, transience of populations and shared borders, country governments through existing mechanisms<sup>314</sup> across the Mekong region should coordinate, to ensure gender sensitive practices and response. Sharing of information and gender analysis that highlights the impacts of different populations in the region particularly for migrant, returnee workers, those who move between countries, should be ensured to support a coordinated response for at-risk populations. Ensure response services are available, including for those undocumented in the country.

#### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Worldometer, 'Countries where COVID-19 has spread', <u>www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/countries-where-coronavirus-has-</u> spread/, accessed 22 August 2020.

<sup>6</sup> Worldometer, 'Countries where COVID-19 has spread', <u>www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/countries-where-coronavirus-has-</u> spread/, accessed on 22 August 2020.

Johns Hopkins University and Medicine, Coronavirus Resource Centre, www.coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html, 2020, accessed on 31 August 2020.

<sup>8</sup> Roser, Max., Hannah Ritchie, Esteban Ortiz-Ospina and Joe Hasell, Our World in Data, 'Coronavirus (COVID-19) Deaths', www.ourworldindata.org/covid-deaths#world-maps-confirmed-deaths-relative-to-the-size-of-the-population, accessed 22 August 2020.

<sup>9</sup> UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, 'The First 100 Days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A Gender Lens', www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/04/ap\_first\_100-days\_covid-19r02.pdf?la=en&vs=3400, accessed 26 April 2020.

<sup>10</sup> For this report, CARE is defining the Mekong Region as Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, Thailand and Viet Nam.

<sup>11</sup> Open Development Mekong, 'COVID-19 in the Mekong', <u>www.opendevelopmentmekong.net/topics/covid-19-in-the-mekong/</u>, accessed on 22 April 2020.

<sup>12</sup> Cambodia (15 to 29 April 2020); Lao PDR (4 to 12 May 2020); Viet Nam (15 to 30 April 2020); Thailand (21 to 28 May 2020); Myanmar (4 to 20 May 2020). The Rapid Gender Analysis focused on Rakhine in Myanmar is developed using largely secondary data

<sup>13</sup> A quick scan of 20 Village Savings and Loan Associations (VSLAs) was conducted to understand savings and loans among VSLA members during COVID-19. The 20 VSLAs were selected based on a convenience sample approach, and are comprised of a total of 360 members (mainly women) from Dien Bien, Son La, Kon Tum and Tra Vinh. The 'quick scan' method included reviews of VSLA meeting notes and documents, as well as short chats with all 20 female VSLA leaders. The information collected related to group members, purchased shares, available funds, member's loans and payment capacity as well as group challenges and needs during the outbreak

<sup>14</sup> Research was initially undertaken from 27 January to 28 February 2020 and subsequently updated in June 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 crisis. Research methods included a secondary data review, and KIIs with service providers: four women and two men (conducted prior to the COVID-19 pandemic)

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 'World Population Prospects', Online Edition, Rev.1., www.population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/, 2019, accessed 28 April 2020.

<sup>16</sup> World Economic Forum, 'Global Gender Gap Report 2020', www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_GGGR\_2020.pdf, accessed 29 August

2020. <sup>17</sup> United Nations Treaty Collection, 'Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women', New York, <sup>17</sup> United Nations Treaty Collection, 'Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women', New York, <sup>17</sup> United Nations Treaty Collection, 'Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women', New York, www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-8&chapter=4&lang=en, accessed 20 August 2020. Open Development Mekong, 'Population and censuses Population of the Lower Mekong',

www.opendevelopmentmekong.cf./population-and-censuses/#ref-177457-5, 2018, accessed 21 August 2020.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 'World Population Prospects', Online Edition, Rev.1., www.population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/, 2019, accessed 28 April 2020. ,

<sup>20</sup> United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 'World Population Prospects', Online Edition, Rev.1., www.population.un.org/wpp/, 2019, accessed 28 April 2020.

<sup>21</sup> World Health Organization, 'World Report on Disability', www.who.int/disabilities/world\_report/2011/report/en/, 2011, accessed 29 April 2020.

The Republic of the Union of Myanmar, 'The 2014 Myanmar Population and Housing Census, Thematic Report on Disability: Census Report Volume 4-K', www.myanmar.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/4K\_Disability\_0.pdf, August 2017, accessed 29 <u>April 2020</u>

<sup>23</sup>United Nations Treaty Collection, 'Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities', <u>www.reaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-15&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, New York, accessed 29 April 2020.

<sup>24</sup> United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, 'Disability at a Glance 2015: Strengthening Employment Prospects for Persons with Disabilities in Asia at the Pacific',

www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/SDD%20Disability%20Glance%202015\_Final.pdf, 2016,accessed 30 April 2020. <sup>25</sup> World Health Organization, 'Global Status Report on Violence Prevention',

www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/violence/status\_report/2014/en/, 2014, accessed 30 April 2020. United Nations Population Fund, 'Cambodia Data Sheet on Intimate Partner Violence'

www.cambodia.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Leflet\_IPV\_English.pdf, accessed 30 April 2020.

<sup>27</sup> United Nations Population Fund, Asia and the Pacific, 'kNOwVAWdata: Measuring prevalence of violence against women in Asia Pacific', <u>www.asiapacific.unfpa.org/knowvawdata</u>, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>28</sup> Ministry of Health and Sports (MoHS) and ICF, 'Myanmar Demographic and Health Survey 2015-16', <u>www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR324/FR324.pdf</u>, March 2017, accessed 28 April 2020.

 www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FK324/FK324.put, iviatit 2017, accessed 20 April 2020.
 <sup>29</sup> United Nations Population Fund, Asia and the Pacific, 'kNOwVAWdata: Measuring prevalence of violence against women in Asia-Pacific', www.asiapacific.unfpa.org/knowvawdata, accessed 20 August 2020.

40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Worldometer, 'Countries where COVID-19 has spread', www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/countries-where-coronavirus-hasspread/, accessed on 22 August 2020.

Johns Hopkins University and Medicine, Coronavirus Resource Centre, 2020, www.coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html, accessed 31 August 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Open Development Mekong, 'COVID-19 in the Mekong', www.opendevelopmentmekong.net/topics/covid-19-in-the-mekong/, accessed on 22 April 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Worldometer, 'Countries where COVID-19 has spread', www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/countries-where-coronavirus-hasspread/, accessed on 22 August 2020.

<sup>30</sup> United Nations Population Fund, Asia and the Pacific, 'Second National Study on Violence Against Women in Viet Nam is released', www.asi ic.unfpa.org/en/news/second-national-study-violence-against-women-viet-nam-released, 14 July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>31</sup>Journey of Family Violence, 'Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence in Thailand' 2018, www.researchgate.net/publication/324278316\_Prevalence\_of\_Intimate\_Partner\_Violence\_in\_Thailand, 2018, accessed 29 April 2020. <sup>32</sup> National Commission for the Advancement of Women, Lao PDR, United Nations Population Fund, UN Women and the World

Health Organisation, Summary Report – 'A Study on Violence against Women in Laos PDR', www.asiapacific.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Lao%20PDR%20VAW%20Summary\_En 20PDR%20VAW%20Summary\_Eng%20Report.pdf, 2015, accessed 29 April 2020.

<sup>33</sup> United Nations Population Fund, Asia and the Pacific, 'kNOwVAWdata: Measuring prevalence of violence against women in Asia-Pacific' www.asiapacific.unfpa.org/knowvawdata, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>34</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-</u> report\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>35</sup> Jones, Nicola., and Tran Thi Van Anh, 'Gendered risks, poverty and vulnerability in Viet Nam',

www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/6258.pdf, 2010, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>36</sup> National Institute of Statistics 2013 and 2019, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>37</sup> Mauney,Robin., 'Gender and ethnicity in Lao PDR with a focus on the Talieng Ethnic Group', CARE Laos PDR, April 2020, cited

in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020

Lao Population and Housing Census, 'Results of Population and Housing Census', 2015, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020.</u> <sup>39</sup> The Brookings Institution, 'Peace in Myanmar depends on settling centuries-old ethnic conflicts', www.brookings.edu/blog/up-

front/2017/03/20/peace-in-myanmar-depends-on-settling-centuries-old-ethnic-conflicts/, 2017, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-<u>19 Report\_FINAL.pdf</u>, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>40</sup> Human Rights Watch, 'Discrimination in Arakan', <u>www.hrw.org/reports/2000/burma/burm005-02.htm</u>, accessed 5 August 2020.

<sup>41</sup> CARE and UN Women, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, Myanmar – Rakhine State', www.careevaluations.org/wpontent/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_CARE\_4Aug2020.pdf, August 2020, accessed 19 August.

<sup>42</sup> Open Development Mekong, 'Population and censuses Population of the Lower Mekong',

www.opendevelopmentmekong.net/topics/population-and-censuses/#ref-177457-5, 2018, accessed 21 August 2020.

<sup>43</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGAreport\_final.pdf, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>44</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.<u>careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>45</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-<u>19 Report\_FINAL.pdf</u>, June 2020, <u>accessed 20 August 2020.</u> <sup>46</sup> International Labour Organisation, 'Covid19 - Impact on Migrant Workers and Country Response in Thailand',

www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-bangkok/documents/briefingnote/wcms\_741920.pdf, April 2020, accessed 29 April 2020.

<sup>47</sup> Asian Development Bank, Asian Development Review, 'Determinants of Intra-ASEAN Migration',

 www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/pdf/10.1162/ADEV\_a\_00084, 2017, accessed 30 April 2020.
 <sup>48</sup> TTR weekly, 'Thailand extends visa amnesty', www.ttrweekly.com/site/2020/07/thailand-extends-visa-amnesty/, 23 July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

49 International Labour Organisation, Asia Pacific Migration Network, 'Thailand allows longer stay for migrant workers',

www.apmigration.ilo.org/news/thailand-allows-longer-stay-for-migrant-workers, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>50</sup> *Khmer Times*, 'COVID-19: A Global Approach to Protecting Garment Workers in Supply Chains as Cambodia Faces up to 500,000 Job Losses', www.khmertimeskh.com/50716165/covid-19-a-global-approach-to-protecting-garment-workers-in-supplychains-as-cambodia-faces-up-to-500000-job-losses/, 23 April 2020, accessed 15 May 2020. <sup>51</sup>CNV International, 'Vietnam Country Study - Labour Standards in the Garment Supply Chain',

www.cnvinternationaal.nl/ Resources/Persistent/c693cde01921991a984c192d70c887f75412dcdc/CNV-Vietnam-Garment-Supply-Chain-web%20clickable%20ENG%20DEF.pdf, June 2016, accessed 10 May 2020. <sup>52</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', <u>careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA</u> Covid-

<u>19 Report\_FINAL.pdf</u>, June 2020, <u>accessed 18 August 2020.</u>
 <sup>53</sup> International Labour Organisation, 'Lao Garment Project: Project Launched in the Lao People's Democratic Republic',

www.ilo.org/asia/media-centre/news/WCMS\_358225/lang--en/index.htm, March 2015, accessed 28 April 2020. <sup>54</sup> CARE, 'Female Garment Factory Workers in Laos: Meeting Critical Sexual and Reproductive Health Needs',

www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/development-blog/female-garment-factory-workers-in-laos-meeting-critical-sexual-andreproductive-health-needs, 2015, accessed 29 April 2020. <sup>55</sup> Clean Clothes Campaign, 'Key findings, Migrant Report, Thailand', www.<u>cleanclothes.org/news/2014/12/18/key-findings-migrant-</u>

report-thailand, 2014, accessed 30 April 2020. <sup>56</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-

19 Report FINAL.pdf, June 2020, <u>accessed 19 August 2010.</u>
 57 Center for Women's Global Leadership, 'Global 16 days Campaign', <u>www.16dayscampaign.org/2019/03/05/garment-sector-vietnam/</u> cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>58</sup> Note, most garment factory workers in the Mekong do not have 'access' to legal or social protections either, but they are formally employed as technically they are legally protected by the law and entitled to access social security. (CARE, Made by Women Strategy Coordinator, personal communication with CARE Australia, 18 May 2020.)

<sup>59</sup> International Labour Organisation, 'More Than 68 Percent of the Employment Population in the Asia-Pacific are in the Information Economy', www.ilo.org/asia/media-centre/news/WCMS\_627585/lang--en/index.htm, May 2018, accessed 30 April 2020.

<sup>60</sup>The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Secretariat Jakarta, 'Regional Study on Informal Employment Statistics to Support Decent Work Promotion in ASEAN', www.asean.org/storage/2 12/05/13-Regional-Study-on-Informal-Employment-Statistics-to-Support-Decent-Wo....pdf, 2019, accessed 30 April 2020.

<sup>61</sup>Al Jazeera, 'A Mental and Physical Hell - The Majority of the World's Trafficked People are in South East Asia, and about Half Of Those Are Forced into Sex Work', www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2011/10/20111010125026811763.html, November 2011, accessed 30 April 2020.

62 UN AIDS, 'Sex Workers, Population Size Estimate',

www.onlinedb.unaids.org/gam/stock/shared/dv/PivotData 2018 7 22 636678151733621264.htm, 2016, accessed 29 April 2020. <sup>63</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, 'CARE Myanmar's Socially Marginalised Population Programs - A Gender Analysis of Female Migrants and Female Sex Workers', 2013.

<sup>64</sup> Esther Saville and Eleanor Brown, 'Living on the edge: sex workers' lives in Myanmar',

www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/images/in-practice/GBV/GBV\_brief\_sex\_workers\_lives\_in\_myanmar\_2015.pdf, 2015, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGAreport\_final.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020.

 <sup>65</sup> Saville, Esther., and Eleanor Brown, 'Living on the edge: sex workers' lives in Myanmar',
 www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/images/in-practice/GBV/GBV\_brief\_sex\_workers\_lives\_in\_myanmar\_2015.pdf, 2015, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGAreport\_final.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>66</sup> Policy. HIV/Aids in the Mekong Region. Cambodia, Lao PDR, Thailand and Viet Nam. (June 2003)

www.policyproject.com/pubs/generalreport/HIV\_Mekong.pdf <sup>67</sup> CARE Australia, 'CARE Gender in Brief: Cambodia', <u>www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender\_in\_briefs</u>, 2016, accessed 30th April 2020.

68 CARE Australia, 'CARE Gender in Brief: Vietnam', 2016, www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender\_in\_briefs, accessed 2 May 2020.

<sup>69</sup> International Labour Organisation, 'Women do 4 Times More Unpaid Care Work Than Men in Asia and the Pacific', www.ilo.org/asia/media-centre/news/WCMS\_633284/lang--en/index.htm, 2018, accessed 5 May 2020.

<sup>70</sup>International Labour Organisation, 'COVID-19 and the Labour Market in Vietnam', <u>www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-</u> bangkok/---ilo-hanoi/documents/briefingnote/wcms\_742134.pdf, 2020, accessed 5 May 2020. <sup>71</sup> The Star, 'Put Women and Girls at Heart of COVID-19 Response and Recovery in ASEAN',

www.thestar.com.my/news/focus/2020/04/26/put-women-girls-at-heart-of-covid-19-response-and-recovery-in-asean, 26 April 2020, accessed 5 May 2020.

<sup>72</sup> Raks Thai Foundation, 'Vulnerability Need Assessment for At-Risk Migrants in Surat Thani Province', October 2019. <sup>73</sup> World Bank, 'Toward Gender Equality in East Asia and the Pacific: A companion of the world development report', 2012, p.47. cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>74</sup> Suzie Albone, Women's Health Advisor, CARE International in Lao PDR, 'Gender and Power Analysis for Remote Ethnic Groups (REG)', June 2011, p.10, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic

Republic', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>75</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.careevaluations.org/wp content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>76</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>77</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.careevaluations.org/w ontent/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>78</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic' <u>www.careevaluations.org/v</u>

content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf, July 2020\_accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>79</sup> Raks Thai, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GIE\_Learning\_RGA\_Migrants-in-Thailand\_COVID-19\_June2020.pdf, June

2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>80</sup> Interviews with migrant workers, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020.

<sup>81</sup> Key informants, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf , June 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>82</sup> The Economic Times, 'How schools in Thailand are reopening', www.economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/international/worldnews/how-schools-in-thailand-are-reopening/reopening/slideshow/76851426.cms, 8 July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>83</sup> UNICEF, Lao PDR, 'Safely back to school', <u>www.unicef.org/laos/stories/safely-back-school</u>, accessed 21 August 2020.

<sup>84</sup> United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', www2.unwomen.org/-

/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-womenen.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>85</sup> Boniol, M, McIsaac, M, Xu, L, Wuliji, T, Diallo, K & Campbell, 'Gender equity in the health workforce: Analysis of 104 countries,

Health Workforce Working paper', www.apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311314/WHO-HIS-HWF-Gender-WP1-2019.1eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y&te=1&nl=in-her%20words&emc=edit on 20200312, 1 March 2019, accessed 2 May 2020. <sup>86</sup>United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u> /media/headguarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-

en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>87</sup> The Lancet, 'COVID-19: The Gendered Impacts of the Outbreak', <u>www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-</u>

6736(20)30526-2/fulltext, 6 March 2020, accessed 28 April 2020. <sup>88</sup> World Health Organisation, 2020, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic',

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>89</sup> Mauney, Robin., 'Gender and ethnicity in Lao PDR with a focus on the Talieng Ethnic Group', CARE Laos PDR, April 2020, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.care content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>90</sup> UN Women, Women Count, 'COVID-19 and gender: what do we know; what do we need to know?',

www.data.unwomen.org/features/covid-19-and-gender-what-do-we-know-what-do-we-need-know, 2020, accessed 2 May 2020.

<sup>91</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic, July 2020', www.careevaluations.org/wpds/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf, accessed 20 August 2020.

content/uploads/GIE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdl, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>92</sup>CARE, 'COVID-19 could condemn women to decades of poverty: Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Women's and Girls' Economic Justice and Rights', <u>www.care.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/CARE-Implications-of-the-COVID-19-Pandemic-on-Womens-and-Girls-Economic-Justice-and-Rights 30-APRIL-2020.pdf</u>, April 2020, accessed 12 May 2020. <sup>93</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, personal communication with CARE Australia, 28 April 2020.

<sup>94</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-<u>19 Report FINAL.pdf., June 2020,</u> <sup>95</sup> UNAIDS (2020). "We cannot provide only HIV services while sex workers are hungry": Thai community organization steps in.

<sup>96</sup>Inquirer, 'ASEAN Leaders Urged - Provide Gender Based Measures Amid COVID19 Emergency',

www.globalnation.inguirer.net/187065/asean-leaders-urged-provide-gender-based-measures-amid-covid-19-emergency, 22 April 2020. accessed 6 May 2020.

Global Travel Media, 'Tourism Insights and Strategies to the COVID-19 Crisis', www.eglobaltravelmedia.com.au/tourism-insightsstrategies-to-the-covid-19-crisis/, 24 April 2020, accessed 2 May 2020.

<sup>98</sup> Asia Development Bank, 'Tourism Sector Assessment, Strategy and Road Map For Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar and Vietnam, 2016-2018', www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/227186/clmv-tourism-sectorssment.pdf, 2017, accessed 6 May 2020.

assessment.pdf, 2017, accessed b iviay 2020. <sup>99</sup> ASEAN Secretariat, 'ASEAN Policy Brief - Economic Impact of COVID-19 Outbreak on ASEAN',

www.asean.org/storage/2020/04/ASEAN-Policy-Brief-April-2020\_FINAL.pdf, April 2020, accessed 3 May 2020. <sup>100</sup> CARE, 'COVID-19 and the Garment Industry - Protect workers, Transform the Industry', 8 April 2020,

www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/development-blog/covid-19-and-the-garment-industry-protect-workers-transform-the-industry. April 2020, accessed 29 April 2020,

<sup>101</sup> UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, 'The First 100 Days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A Gender Lens', www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/04/ap\_first\_100-days\_covid-19r02.pdf?la=en&vs=3400, accessed 26 April 2020.

<sup>102</sup> CARE, 'COVID-19 and the Garment Industry - Protect workers, Transform the Industry',

www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/development-blog/covid-19-and-the-garment-industry-protect-workers-transform-the-industry, 8 April 2020, accessed 29 April 2020.

<sup>103</sup> Khmer Times, 'COVID-19: A Global Approach to Protecting Garment Workers in Supply Chains as Cambodia Faces up to 500,000 Job Losses', www.khmertimeskh.com/50716165/covid-19-a-global-approach-to-protecting-garment-workers-in-supply-

chains-as-cambodia-faces-up-to-500000-job-losses/, 23 April 2020, accessed 10 May 2020. <sup>104</sup> Khmer Times, 'Garment Workers Protest Unpaid April Wages', <u>www.khmertimeskh.com/50722003/garment-workers-protest-</u>

unpaid-april-wages/, 12 May 2020, accessed 15 May 2020. <sup>105</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-</u> Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August.

<sup>106</sup>Bloomberg, 'Workers Who Make the World's Clothes are Facing Abject Poverty', <u>www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-04-</u>
 <u>20/faded-desire-for-fashion-leaves-global-garment-workers-destitute</u>, 21 April 2020, accessed 5 May 2020.
 <sup>107</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-</u>

<u>19 Report FINAL.pdf</u>, June 2020, accessed 19 August. <sup>108</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-

19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf, June 2020, accessed 19 August.

<sup>109</sup> CARE 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-</u> report\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 19 August.

<sup>110</sup> Raks Thai, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_Migrants-in-Thailand\_COVID-19\_June2020.pdf, June 2020, accessed 19 August.

<sup>111</sup> Raks Thai. Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand'. www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_Migrants-in-Thailand\_COVID-19\_June2020.pdf, June 2020. accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>112</sup> UN Women Asia and the Pacific, Situation of Women Report- Viet Nam, www.unwomen-

eseasia.org/docs/factsheets/08%20VIET%20NAM%20factsheet.pdf, 29 April 2020. <sup>113</sup> International Labour Organisation, COVID-19: Impact on migrant workers and country response in Thailand, www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-bangkok/documents/briefingnote/wcms\_741920.pdf, 17 April 2020,

accessed 28 April 2020. <sup>114</sup> KII with factory and migrant workers, April 2020, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-

2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020 <sup>115</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19, Lao Feople's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevalue</u> <u>content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf</u>, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. CARE Australia, Cambodia, Laos, Vietnam, Myanmar, Gender in Briefs,

www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender in briefs, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>117</sup> Food and Agriculture Organisation, 'Country Gender Assessment of Agriculture and the Rural Sector in Viet Nam', 2019. <sup>118</sup> Respondents, 'CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>119</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>120</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/GIE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>121</sup> Food and Agriculture Organisation, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, FAO's gender work in Asia and the Pacific,

www.fao.org/asiapacific/programmes-and-projects/gender/en/, accessed 2 May 2020. <sup>122</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-

alysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

ambodiaations.org/wp-content/uploads/CAF Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. CARE, 'Unlocking Access, Unleashing Potential: Empowering 50 Million Women and Girls Through VSLAs by 2030',

www.www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/vsla\_unlocking\_access.pdf, October 2019, accessed 3 May 2020.

<sup>125</sup> CARE 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGAreport\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 19 August 2020. <sup>126</sup> CARE International in Cambodia implemented VSLA programming from 2013-2017.

<sup>127</sup> CARE International in Laos, personal communication with CARE Australia on 19 May 2020.

<sup>128</sup> CARE International in Cambodia, personal communication with CARE Australia on 18 May 2020.

<sup>129</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, personal communication with CARE Australia on 18 May 2020.

<sup>130</sup> CARE International in Vietnam, personal communication with CARE Australia on 18 May 2020.

<sup>131</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf</u>, July 2020, <u>accessed 19 August 2020</u>.
 <sup>132</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.careevaluations.org/wp-

content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf, July 2020, accessed 19 August 2020. 133 Dang Nguyen et al, 'Decision Making Dynamics within the Vietnamese Family Unit', 2012, cited in CARE 'Rapid Gender Analysis

for COVID-19, Vietnam', www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 20 August 2020

<sup>134</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-</u> RGA-report\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 20 August 2020. <sup>135</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-</u>

RGA-report\_final.pdf, May 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>136</sup>Raks Thai, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand' www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_Migrants-in-Thailand\_COVID-19\_June2020.pdf, June 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.

<sup>137</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf</u>, July 2020, accessed 20 August 2020.
 <sup>138</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, personal communication with CARE Australia, 18 May 2020.

<sup>139</sup> CARE Australia, Cambodia, Laos, Vietnam, Gender in Brief; Myanmar Gender in Brief, 2020, cited at

www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender in briefs, on 7 May 2020. <sup>140</sup>United Nations, 9 April 2020, Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women, <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u> /media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-

en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, on 7 May 2020.

<sup>141</sup> CARE Australia, Cambodia, Laos, Vietnam, Myanmar, Gender in Briefs,

www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender in briefs, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>142</sup> Inter-Parliamentary Union, 'Women in Parliament: Global and Regional Averages', www.data.ipu.org/womenaverages?month=5&year=2020&op=Show+averages&form\_build\_id=form-

I5NDFygbbxERC3fnnaTsBn85ZUw7PCa1TZz8gWGZsVg&form\_id=ipu\_women\_averages\_filter\_form, May 2020, accessed 29

May 2020. <sup>143</sup> Statista, 'Proportion of Seats Held by Women in Parliament in Vietnam 2009-

2019 www.www.statista.com/statistics/730331/vietnam-proportion-of-seats-held-by-women-in-national-parliament/, April 2020, accessed 27 April 2020.

<sup>144</sup> UNDP, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', www.careevaluations.org/wp-<u>content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf</u>, July 2020, accessed 27 April 2020. <sup>145</sup> Lao PDR Gender profile 2018, Lao Women's Union, p. 81 cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's

Democratic Republic (July 2020). www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf

<sup>146</sup> Lao PDR Gender profile 2018, Lao Women's Union, p. 81 cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020). www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-

<u>19\_July20201.pdf</u> <sup>147</sup> UNDP Myanmar 2020, 'On International Women's Day, more women still needed at top decision maker level in Myanmar', www.www.mm.undp.org/content/myanmar/en/home/presscenter/articles/2020/international-womens-day.html, accessed 1 June 2020, cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-

 <u>content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf</u>
 <sup>148</sup> Matichon Online. <u>www.www.matichon.co.th/lifestyle/social-women/news\_1503544</u>. Accessed 21 August 2020.
 <sup>149</sup> CARE Australia, 'Cambodia Gender in Brief', <u>www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender\_in\_briefs</u>, 2016, accessed 7 May 2020.

<sup>150</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, personal communication with CARE Australia, 18 May 2020.

<sup>151</sup> UN Women, May 2020, Rapid Assessment: Impact of COVID-19 on Women's Civil Society Organizations. <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u> /media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/06/cso%20survey%20brief\_24%20june%202020.pdf?la=en&vs=2645 <sup>152</sup> Asia-Pacific Transgender Network, June 2020. #SeeUsSupportUs: COVID-19 Rapid Assessment Findings.

www.weareaptn.org/covid-19-rapid-assessment-findings/ <sup>153</sup> ASEAN SOGIE Caucus, June 2020, Impacts of COVID-19 on LGBTIQ Organizations in the Southeast Asia Region. www.aseansogiecaucus.org/activist-voices/144-impacts-of-covid-19-on-lgbtig-organizations-in-the-southeast-asian-

regionThe?fbclid=IwAR26BUPtvRfcJ1czJQ6ZfvpwcGbBO17YwHVCZf80KmDfsNAvaQD\_yS5xrek <sup>154</sup> CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u>

RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>155</sup> UN Women, March 2020, The COVID-19 Outbreak and Gender: Key Advocacy Points from Asia and the Pacific, <sup>155</sup> UN Women, March 2020, The COVID-19 Outbreak and Gender: Key Advocacy Points from Asia and the Pacific, www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/03/ap-giha-wg-advocacv.pdf?la=en&vs=2145. accessed 3 April 2020.

<sup>156</sup> Lowy Institute The Interpreter, They Gender Matters in the Impact and Recovery from COVID-19, www.lowyinstitute.org/theinterpreter/why-gender-matters-impact-and-recovery-covid-19, 20 March 2020, accessed 3 April 2020. <sup>157</sup>Ministry of Health, Cambodia, cited at

www.facebook.com/MinistryofHealthofCambodia/photos/pcb.2873599212679166/2873599019345852/?type=3&theater, on 7 May 2020.

<sup>158</sup> CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020). www.careevaluations.org/wpds/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.p

content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdi <sup>159</sup> CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u>

RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>160</sup>Ministry of Health Vietnam, cited at <u>www.moh.gov.vn/documents/176127/0/170+Q%C4%90-TTg30-01-2020.pdf/0a28cc84-4ca6-</u> 4610-9dc0-73b982718612, on 3 May 2020

<sup>161</sup> 46 Quyết định số 170/QĐ-Ttg: Về việc thành lập ban chỉ đạo phòng chống covid;

www.moh.gov.vn/documents/176127/0/170+Q%C4%90-TTg30-01-2020.pdf/0a28cc84-4ca6-4610-9dc0- 73b982718612 cited in CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam (May 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-

report\_final.pdf <sup>162</sup> CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam (May 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-</u> report\_final.pdf <sup>163</sup> Respondents, CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020).

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf <sup>164</sup> CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia, (July 2020), <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-</u> Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf <sup>165</sup> Respondents, CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam (May 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf

<sup>166</sup> The Vietnamese Ministry of Health has developed a pop song on handwashing which quickly went viral and inspired its own Tik Tok dance. High profile influencers in Cambodia have taken to social media to encouraging Cambodians to adopt preventative measures, including handwashing. In Myanmar, music and video producers and other content composers have been asked to write ingles to educate the public on handwashing, social distancing and wearing facial masks, with these tunes broadcast on state television before the news and in advertisement breaks.

<sup>167</sup> World Health Organisation, 2018, Handwashing by Soap, Data by Country,

www.apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.WSHHYGIENE?lang=en, accessed 30 April 2020.

<sup>169</sup> CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u> RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>170</sup> Respondents, CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020).

.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Git\_Learning\_KGA\_LausFDK\_COVID-19\_00/20201.pdf 2020). www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf

<sup>172</sup> CÁRE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar (June 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-

RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>173</sup> ADB Gender Assessment p.39, cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July <sup>173</sup> ADB Gender Assessment p.39, cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July <sup>173</sup> ADB Gender Assessment p.39, cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020). www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf <sup>174</sup> CARE Australia, 2016, Cambodia, Laos, Vietnam, Gender in Brief; Myanmar Gender in Brief, 2020, cited at

http://gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender\_in\_briefs, on 7 May 2020.

<sup>175</sup> The World Bank, 2014, Population living in slums (% of urban population) - Vietnam, Cambodia, Thailand, Lao PDR, Myanmar, www.data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.SLUM.UR.ZS?display=graph--%3E&locations=VN-KH-TH-LA-MM, on 3 May 2020. <sup>176</sup> The Straits Times, 19 March 2020, Coronavirus - Perfect Storm of Virus Peril in Asia's Sprawling Slums, cited at

www.www.straitstimes.com/asia/se-asia/coronavirus-perfect-storm-of-virus-peril-in-asias-sprawling-slums, on 3 April 2002. <sup>177</sup> Gender Equality Network MyanmarRaising the Curtain: Cultural Norms, Social Practices and Gender Equality in Myanmar, cited

at www.lift-fund.org/raising-curtain-cultural-norms-social-practices-and-gender-equality-myanmar, 2015, on 10 May 2020. <sup>178</sup> The Lancet, 6 March 2020, 'COVID-19: The Gendered Impacts of the Outbreak', cited at

www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30526-2/fulltext, on 28 April 2020.

<sup>179</sup> CARE Australia, 2016, Cambodia Gender in Brief cited at <u>www.gender.careinternationalwikis.org/gender\_in\_briefs</u>, on 7 May 2020.

<sup>180</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, personal communication with CARE Australia, 18 May 2020.

<sup>181</sup> CARE International in Laos, personal communication with CARE Australia, 19 May 2020.

<sup>182</sup> Mekong Migration Network, 2020, Overview of Mekong Migration, <u>http://www.mekongmigration.org/?page\_id=25</u>, on 3 May 2020. <sup>183</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, April 2020, Concept Note for START Fund COVID-19 Response.

<sup>184</sup> Ibid.

<sup>185</sup> UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, 'The First 100 Days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A gender Lens', cited at www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/04/ap\_first\_100-days\_covid-19-

r02.pdf?la=en&vs=3400, April 2020, accessed 26 April 2020

<sup>186</sup> UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, 'The First 100 Days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A gender Lens', www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/04/ap\_first\_100-days\_covid-19-r02.pdf?la=en&vs=3400, April 2020, accessed 26 April 2020 <sup>187</sup>United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women' www2.unwomen.org/-

/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-

en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>188</sup> UN Women, April 2020, 'Surveys show COVID-19 has gendered effects'. <u>www.data.unwomen.org/resources/surveys-show-</u> covid-19-has-gendered-effects-asia-and-pacific

<sup>189</sup> CARE International in Laos, April 2020, Concept Note for START Fund COVID-19 Response.

<sup>190</sup> Respondent, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic' (July 2020).

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf<sup>191</sup> 'Gender Profile in Humanitarian Action: Rakhine, Kachin and Northern Shan', <u>www.reliefweb.int/report/myanmar/gender-profile-</u>

humanitarian-action-rakhine-kachin-and-northern-shan-myanmar-volume-2 on 26 May <sup>192</sup> Raks Thai Foundation,' Gender power analysis report for the project, Stop TB and AIDS through RRTTR (STAR 2)', February 2020.

<sup>193</sup> International Labour Organisation, 'COVID-19: Impact on migrant workers and country response

in Thailand', www.www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-

bangkok/documents/briefingnote/wcms\_741920.pdf, 17 April 2020, accessed 28 April 2020. <sup>194</sup>Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, 'The Impact of Policy Responses for COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific', www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/COVID%20\_Report\_ESCAP.pdf, accessed 4 May 2020.

<sup>195</sup>World Health Organisation, Tobacco and Waterpipe Use Increases the Risk of Suffering from COVID-19,

www.emro.who.int/tfi/know-the-truth/tobacco-and-waterpipe-users-are-at-increased-risk-of-covid-19-infection.html, on 15 May 2020. <sup>196</sup> Economic and Social Commission for the Asia and the Pacfic, 2014, Statistical Yearbook for Asia and the Pacific 2014,

www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/ESCAP-SYB2014.pdf, on 2 May 2020. <sup>197</sup> World Health Organization, Tobacco Use, Data by Country, cited at <u>www.apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.1805?lang=en</u>, on 29 April 2020.

<sup>198</sup> The Diplomat, 'Thailand - The Coronavirus Suicides', <u>www.thediplomat.com/2020/05/thailand-the-coronavirus-suicides/</u>, 11 May 2020, accessed 20 May 2020.

<sup>199</sup> UN Women, April 2020, Surveys show COVID-19 has gendered effects. www.data.unwomen.org/resources/surveys-show-covid-19-has-gendered-effects-asia-and-pacific

200 WHO, Gender and Women's Mental Health

<sup>201</sup> Key Informant Interviews with factory and migrant workers, health care providers and local authorities April 2019. CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia, (July 2020), www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapic Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf 202 Respondents, CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic (July 2020).

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GIE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf 203 Raks Thai, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand (June 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA Migrants-in-Thailand COVID-19 June2020.pdf 204 Asia-Pacific Transgender Network, June 2020, '#SeeUsSupportUs: COVID-19 Rapid Assessment Findings'

www.weareaptn.org/covid-19-rapid-assessment-findings/

<sup>205</sup>UNFPA, 'COVID-19 - Gender Lens Protecting Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and Promoting Gender Equality', www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19\_A\_Gender\_Lens\_Guidance\_Note.pdf, March 2020, accessed 1 May 2020.

<sup>206</sup> United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', www2.unwomen.org/-

/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>207</sup> Population Reference Bureau, 'Maternal Mortality a Leading Cause of Death in Cambodia',

www.prb.org/maternalmortalityaleadingcauseofdeathincambodia/, 13 January 2003, accessed 3 May 2020.

<sup>208</sup> UN Women (2020) cited in 'CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf 209 CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-

<u>RGA Covid-19 Report FINAL.pdf</u> <sup>210</sup> Mauney, Robin., CARE Laos PDR, 'Gender and ethnicity in Lao PDR with a focus on the Talieng Ethnic Group', April 28, 2020

cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic, July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf content/uploads/GiE

<sup>211</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf 212 National Committee for Counter Trafficking Deputy General Secretary, 'Key Informant Interviews with factory and migrant

workers, local authorities, health service providers' April 2020, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf <sup>213</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020,

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf 214 ADB, Gender Assessment, p.20, cited in ARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic, July 2020,

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf 215 Key Informant interview with factory and migrant workers April 2019. www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-

Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf <sup>216</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u> RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf

<sup>217</sup> Raks Thai, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. Gendered Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Migrants in Thailand', June 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_Migrants-in-Thailand\_COVID-19\_June2020.pdf</u> <sup>218</sup> CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam (May 2020) <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-</u>

report final.pdf

<sup>219</sup> Human Rights Watch 2020 cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-

2020.pdf 220 Key Informant interviews with migrant workers and people with disability April 2020, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf

<sup>221</sup> KII, people with disabilities, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf</u>
 <sup>222</sup> International Disability Alliance, Toward a Disability-Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Alliance, Toward a Disability-Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the International Disability Inclusive COVID-19 Response: 10 Recommendations from the Interna

Disability Alliance, www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/sites/default/files/ida\_recommendations\_for\_disabilityinclusive\_covid19\_response\_final.pdf, 19 March 2020, accessed 3 May 2020.

223 CARE and the International Rescue Committee, March 2020, 'Global Rapid Gender Analysis COVID-19', cited at www.careinternational.org/files/files/Global RGA\_COVID\_RDM\_3\_31\_20\_FINAL.pdf, on 7 May 2020.

<sup>124</sup> Economic and Social Commission for the Asia and the Pacific, 'Building disability-inclusive societies in Asia and the Pacific', www.unescap.org/publications/building-disability%E2%80%91inclusive-so eties-asia-and-pacific-assessing-progress-incheon 2018, on 2 May 2020.

<sup>225</sup> UNICEF, 'COVID-19 Response: Considerations for Children and Adults with Disabilities', www.unicef.org/disabilities/files/COVID-<u>19 response considerations for people with disabilities 190320.pdf</u>, on 7 May 2020. <sup>226</sup>Ibid

<sup>227</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf

<sup>228</sup> In Thailand, the Department of Health of the Ministry of Public Health launched a 'Save the Parents' campaign during the Songkran Festival in April to encourage children to avoid visiting elderly parents<sup>228</sup> and Bangkok's main train operator, the BTS Sky Train, released a video titled 'COVID-19: Dance Against the Virus' showing BTS staff dancing whilst disinfecting surfaces.<sup>228</sup> In Cambodia, the Ministry of Health produced video clips of key COVID-19 health messages for people to share with their friends on Facebook, and has developed short messages that are played on loudspeakers at markets and health clinics <sup>229</sup> Key Informant Interviews, April 2020, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020,

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf

<sup>230</sup> Bangkok Post, 11 May 2020, Digital Gender Divide is Getting Wider,

www.www.bangkokpost.com/opinion/opinion/1915812/digital-gender-divide-is-getting-wider, on 4 May 2020. 231 International Labour Organisation, Migrating in ASEAN with a Mobile Phone - Gender Gaps are not only in Migrants Salaries, but also in Digital Access, www.ilo.org/asia/media-centre/news/WCMS\_732105/lang--en/index.htm, on 4 May 2020.

<sup>232</sup> United National in Lao PDR, 8 November 2017, Lao Social Indicator Survey II (LSIS II) 2017, www.la.one.un.org/mediacenter/publications/430-lao-social-indicator-survey-lsis-ii-2017, on 4 May 2020.

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf 234 ANTV; 24 April 2020; Tuyên truyền phòng Covid-19 bằng tiếng dân tộc thiểu số; available at http://www.antv.gov.vn/tin-tuc/xahoi/tuyen-truyen-phong-covid19-bang-tieng-dan-toc-thieu-so310209.html cited in CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam (May 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf

<sup>235</sup> CARE International in Myanmar, April 2020, Concept Note for START Fund COVID-19 Response.

236 www.hrw.org/news/2020/02/05/myanmar-again-cuts-rakhine-states-internet, on 26 May

<sup>237</sup> Respondents, CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam, May 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf 238 Sochan 2020, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf <sup>239</sup> UN Women 2020, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf 240 CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdff

<sup>241</sup> EiE meeting on 12.05.2020, cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-

2020.pdf 242 UNICEF. 'Report on the regional forum on adolescent pregnancy, child marriage and early union in South-East Asia and Mongolia. Bangkok, Thailand' (4-5 April 2018) <u>www.unicef.org/eap/media/3696/file/Adolescent%20pregnancy.pdf</u> <sup>243</sup> UCA News, 'Laos celebrates new year under COVID-19 cloud', April 14 2020, cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19,

Lao People's Democratic Republic, July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-

content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf

244 Lao PDR, Lao Social Indicator Survey II (LSIS II) 2017, p.269.

<sup>245</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GiE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf

<sup>246</sup> UNICEF. Ethnic minority education in Vietnam: challenges and opportunities during COVID-19 outbreak.

www.www.unicef.org/vietnam/stories/ethnic-minority-education-viet-nam-challenges-and-opportunities-during-covid-19-outbreak <sup>247</sup> Mel Cousins, 'Social Protection in the Mekong - Policy Trends and Future Directions', www.mpra.ub.uni-

muenchen.de/60026/1/MPRA\_paper\_60026.pdf, July 2014, accessed 5 May 2020.

248 Ibid

<sup>249</sup> Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, 'Overcoming as One: COVID-19 Economic Relief Plan',

www.www.moi.gov.mm/moi:eng/?q=news/28/04/2020/id-21511, 27 April 2020, accessed 4 May 2020. <sup>250</sup> Myanmar Times, 'Myanmar Negotiates for Funds to Rescue Embattled Economy', cited at www.mmtimes.com/news/myanmarnegotiates-funds-rescue-embattled-economy.html, 7 May 2020, accessed 10 May 2020. <sup>251</sup> Note, this amount was originally promised at USD114 a month. (Fair Labor, May 2020, Country Specific Updates on Provisions

for Workers in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, cited at www.www.fairlabor.org/blog/entry/country-specific-updates-

provisions-workers-response-covid-19-pandemic#SouthE, on 6 May 2020. <sup>252</sup> Khmer Times, 'Garment Workers Protest Unpaid April Ages', <u>www.khmertimeskh.com/50722003/garment-workers-protest-</u> unpaid-april-wages/, 12 May 2020, accessed 15 May 2020.

Fair Labor, 'Country Specific Updates on Provisions for Workers in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic'. www.fairlabor.org/blog/entry/country-specific-updates-provisions-workers-response-covid-19-pandemic#SouthE. May 2020. accessed 6 May 2020.)

<sup>254</sup> Mel Cousins, 'Social Protection in the Mekong - Policy Trends and Future Directions', <u>www.mpra.ub.uni-</u>

muenchen.de/60026/1/MPRA paper 60026.pdf, July 2014, on 5 May 2020.

<sup>55</sup>UNDP Asia and the Pacific, 'The Social and Economic Impact of COVID-19 In the Asia-Pacific Region',

www.reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/UNDP-RBAP-Position-Note-Social-Economic-Impact-of-COVID-19-in-Asia-Pacific-2020.pdf, April 2020, on 27 April 2020.

Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf <sup>257</sup>United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u>

<u>/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406</u>, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>258</sup> Guttmacher Institute, 'The COVID-19 Outbreak: Potential Fallout for Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights',

www.guttmacher.org/article/2020/03/covid-19-outbreak-potential-fallout-sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-rights, March 2020, accessed 6 May 2020.

<sup>259</sup> Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, 'The Impact of Policy Responses for COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific', www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/COVID%20\_Report\_ESCAP.pdf, on 4 May 2020.

260 Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf 261United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u>

/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-

en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>262</sup> Pearson, Ruth., and Caroline Sweetman, 'Gender and the Economic Crisis',

www.oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/121671/bk-gender-economic-crisis-100211-

en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, 2011, accessed 2 May 2020. <sup>263</sup> Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 'Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Action',

www.gbvguidelines.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/2015-IASC-Gender-based-Violence-Guidelines\_lo-res.pdf, 2015, accessed 5 May 2020.

<sup>264</sup> Canberra Times, <u>Virus prompts Domestic Violence warnings</u>', cited at <u>www.canberratimes.com.au/story/6680209/virus-prompts-</u> domestic-violence-warnings/?cs=14231&utm\_source=website&utm\_medium=home&utm\_campaign=latestnew, 16 March 2020, accessed 27 April 2020.

<sup>265</sup> Wanging, Z, 3 "Domestic Violence Cases Surge During COVID-19 Epidemic, cited at www.sixthtone.com/news/1005253/do, March 2020, accessed 5 May 2020.

<sup>6</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam' (May 2020) www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf

<sup>267</sup> Key Informant Interviews April 2020, CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia, (July 2020),

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf

<sup>268</sup> Peace House Shelter is for women and children who have suffered from domestic violence and human trafficking, and includes a comprehensive package of safe accommodation and services to support these women to reintegrate them back into their communities. See http://www.cwd.vn/en/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=113&Itemid=208, last accessed in August

2020.) <sup>269</sup> UNW fanpage in April 2020 cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020,

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pd <sup>270</sup> CSAGA guick data in April 2020, cited in CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam, May 2020,

www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf 271 Raks Thai Foundation, 'Gender power analysis report for the project, Stop TB and AIDS through RRTTR' February 2020, (STAR

2). <sup>272</sup> UN in Myanmar. 'COVID-19 Lockdown in Myanmar exposes precarious position of LGBTIQI population'. <sup>273</sup>UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, The First 100 Days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A gender Lens, www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/04/ap\_first\_100-days\_covid-19-

r02.pdf?la=en&vs=3400, April 2020, accessed 26 April 2020 <sup>274</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Viet-Nam-</u> RGA-report\_final.pdf 275 UN Women. 'The first 100 days of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific: A gender lens'

www.reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ap\_first\_100%20days\_covid-19.pdf 276 International Rescue Committee (IRC) 2018, 'Feasibility and Acceptability of Mobile and Remote Gender-based Violence (GBV) Service Delivery: A study of innovative approaches to GBV case management in out-of-camp humanitarian settings', www.rescueuk.org/sites/default/files/document/1772/mobileandremotegbvservicesresearchbrieffinal3.pdf, accessed 25 May 2020. Cited in CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>277</sup> 44 OCHA 2020, 'Myanmar: COVID-19 Situation Report No. 04, 18 May 2020,',

www.reliefweb.int/report/myanmar/myanmarcovid-19-situation-report-no-04-18-may-2020, accessed 20 May 2020. Cited in CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar, June 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA Covid-

<u>19 Report FINAL.pdf</u> <sup>278</sup> Key Informant Interviews, April 2020, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Cambodia', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/CARE-Cambodia-Rapid-Gender-Analysis-for-COVID-19-FINAL-APPROVED-July-2020.pdf 279 The Gender Equality Network, 'Behind the Silence - Violence Against Women and their Resilience in Myanmar, Research

Report', www.aidsdatahub.org/behind-silence-violence-against-women-and-their-resilience-myanmar-gender-equality-network-2014, 2015, accessed 2 May 2020.

<sup>280</sup>The Asia Foundation, 'Peace and the Pandemic - The Impact of COVID-19 on Conflict in Asia',

www.asiafoundation.org/2020/04/15/peace-and-the-pandemic-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-conflict-in-asia/, 15 April 2020, accessed 3 May 2020.

<sup>281</sup> Foreign Policy, 'Hen Sen's Coronavirus Crackdown', <u>www.foreignpolicy.com/2020/04/23/hun-sen-coronavirus-pandemic-</u> rackdown-cambodia-authoritarianism/, 23 April 2020, accessed 13 May 2020.

crackdown-cambodia-authoritarianism/, 23 April 2020, accessed 13 iviay 2020. 282 Key Informant Interviews with factory and migrant workers, health care providers, local authorities, National Committee for Counter Trafficking Deputy General Secretary, Operational Director April 2020, CARE Cambodia RGA

283 Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic' (July 2020)

<sup>284</sup> CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u>

RGA\_Covid-19\_Report\_FINAL.pdf <sup>285</sup> Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 'Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Action', <sup>285</sup> Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 'Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence-Guidelines, lo-res.pdf, 2015, acces www.gbyquidelines.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/2015-IASC-Gender-based-Violence-Guidelines lo-res.pdf, 2015, accessed 5 May 2020.

286 It was noted that there is no data yet on gendered state violence due to the pandemic. Sourced from: Dr Erika Fraser, 16 March 2020, Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Violence against Women and Girls, cited at http://www.sddirect.org.uk/media/1881/vawghelpdesk-284-covid-19-and-vawg.pdf, on 3 May 2020.

UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Child, Early and Forced Marriage, Including in Humanitarian Settings, www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Women/WRGS/Pages/ChildMarriage.aspx, on 2 May 2020.

288 Ibid.

289 UNICEF, 'Addressing the Patterns for Child Marriage, Early Union and Teen Pregnancy in South East Asia - A Matter of Urgancy', www.unicef.org/eap/press-releases/addressing-patterns-child-marriage-early-union-and-teen-pregnancy-southeast-asia, 16 April 2018, accessed 3 May 2020.

<sup>290</sup> International Monetary Fund, A Hidden Scourge, <u>www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2018/09/human-trafficking-in-southeast-</u> asia-caballero.htm, September 2018, accessed 4 May 2020. <sup>291</sup> UNODC. 'Global report on trafficking in persons', 2018, <u>www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-</u>

analysis/glotip/2018/GLOTiP\_2018\_BOOK\_web\_small.pdf

292 Ibid.

<sup>293</sup>Cambodian Centre for Human Rights, 28 April 2020, Cambodian Groups Ask Government to Combat Gender Based Violence in COVID-19 Response, www.ifex.org/cambodian-groups-ask-government-to-combat-gender-based-violence-in-covid-19-response/, on 3 May 2020.

<sup>294</sup> The Guardian, 'Fears as Cambodia Grants PM Vast Powers Under COVID-19', <u>www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/10/fears-</u> as-cambodia-grants-hun-sen-vast-power-under-covid-19-pretext, 10 April 2020, accessed 6 May 2020.

<sup>295</sup> Human Rights Watch, 'Cambodia COVID-19 Spurs Bogus Fake News Arrests', <u>www.www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/29/cambodia-</u> covid-19-spurs-bogus-fake-news-arrests, 29 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. 296 Reuters, 'Coronavirus Sends Asia's Social Media Censors Into Overdrive', www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-

fakenews/coronavirus-sends-asias-social-media-censors-into-overdrive-idUSKBN1ZY1AC, 4 February 2020, accessed 8 May 2020. <sup>297</sup>Human Rights Watch, 'Vietnam Facebook, pressured, Censors Dissent', <u>www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/23/vietnam-facebook-</u>

pressured-censors-dissent, 23 April 2020, accessed 6 May 2020. 288 CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar', June 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Myanmar-</u> RGA Covid-19 Report FINAL.pdf

Bangkok Post, 'Arrest Sexism in Police Force', www.bangkokpost.com/opinion/opinion/1534898/arrest-sexism-in-police-force, 2 September 2018, accessed 7 May 2020.

<sup>300</sup> *The Irrawaddy*, 'Female Officers Now Make Up 20 Percent of Police Force', <u>www.www.irrawaddy.com/news/burma/female-officers-now-make-20-percent-police-force.html</u>, 2 October 2018, accessed 6 May 2020. <sup>301</sup> Saville Esther, and Elegnor Brown 2015. It is in a path of the second secon

Saville, Esther., and Eleanor Brown 2015, 'Living on the edge: sex workers' lives in Myanmar',

www.insights.careinternational.org.uk/images/in-practice/GBV/GBV\_brief\_sex\_workers\_lives\_in\_myanmar\_2015.pdf, accessed 1 June 2020. CARE, Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Myanmar, June 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-

content/uploads/Myanmar-RGA Covid-19 Report FINAL.pdf 302United Nations, 'Policy Brief - The Impact of COVID-19 on Women', <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u>

/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-womenen.pdf?la=en&vs=1406, 9 April 2020, accessed 7 May 2020. <sup>303</sup> Ibid.

<sup>304</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/GIE Learning RGA LaosPDR COVID-19 July20201.pdf

<sup>305</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf <sup>306</sup> Respondents, CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19, Vietnam', May 2020, <u>www.careevaluations.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/Viet-Nam-RGA-report\_final.pdf 307 CARE, 'Rapid Gender Analysis, COVID-19, Lao People's Democratic Republic', July 2020, www.careevaluations.org/wpcontent/uploads/GIE\_Learning\_RGA\_LaosPDR\_COVID-19\_July20201.pdf 308 UN Women, '<u>The COVID-19 Outbreak and Gender: Key Advocacy Points from Asia and the Pacific</u>', March 2020

<sup>309</sup> UNFPA 2020, 'COVID-19: A Gender Lens: Projecting sexual and reproductive health and rights, and promoting gender equality', March 2020

<sup>310</sup> CARE International UK, 'Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Women's and Girls' Economic Justice and Rights', www.care.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/CARE-Implications-of-the-COVID-19-Pandemic-on-Womens-and-Girls-Economic-Justiceand-Rights <u>30-APRIL-2020.pdf</u>, April 2020, accessed 12 May 2020. <sup>311</sup> UN Women, 'The COVID-19 Outbreak and Gender: Key Advocacy Points from Asia and the Pacific', <u>www2.unwomen.org/-</u>

/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2020/03/ap-giha-wg-advocacy.pdf?la=en&vs=2145, March 2020, accessed 3 April 2020.

<sup>12</sup> Mekong Migration Network, 'Overview of Mekong Migration', <u>http://www.mekongmigration.org/?page\_id=25</u>, 2020, accessed 3 May 2020.

<sup>313</sup> CARE International in Mvanmar, 'Concept Note for START Fund COVID-19 Response: CARE International in Laos, personal communication with CARE Australia', April 2020, accessed 19 May 2020.

<sup>314</sup> Countries in the Mekong region are already part of a wider network and collective of countries that make up the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) and thus, much can be done at the intergovernmental level and at the Asia-Pacific level to share best practices for coping with the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on different gender groups. For more information, see 'About ASEAN' on www.asean.org/asean/about-asean/, last accessed in September 2020.